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CHAPTER 1

 The phone rang but neither us felt like answering it. I should have taken the receiver off the hook but I forgot. It finally stopped. I was glad it hadn’t rung a few seconds earlier. After a few minutes Mandy rolled over. 
“Don’t you think you should find out who it was? It may be important.”

“Nobody knows we’re here except for my secretary and she knows it’s past our bedtime out here.”

 It was marvellous lying in luxury in the hotel on Hong Kong island. We were spoiling ourselves in the Mandarin Oriental before returning to England. Three weeks had been all too short but it had been a holiday to remember. The message light was on. I put the bedside light on and spoke to the clerk.

“A Mr. Southern called from England and would be grateful if you would return his call.”

 She gave me John’s number. I looked at my watch. It was one o’clock Monday morning and 6 o’clock Sunday afternoon in England.

“Who was it, darling?” I told her and she considered my answer. “If you left calling him until 8 o’clock you could get your revenge and wake him up.”

 I pushed her in the ribs.

“It’s a good idea but not very kind. Look, it must be important or John wouldn’t have phoned. I’m sure whoever was manning the office would have told him when I would be back. I hope it’s not another accident.”

“I don’t think you’re allowed to say ‘manning the office’ any more, particularly as it’s probably a woman.” There was a long pause. “Alright off you go. I can see you can’t wait. Mind you, you wouldn’t have rushed to phone him an hour ago when we came up to our room.” 

She held me to make sure I didn’t misunderstand her. I didn’t. It had been a good evening. The restaurant really had been excellent and the wine out of this world, but then that was hardly surprising for one of the world’s greatest hotels. There was a small band and an even smaller dance floor and we had danced between the seemingly unending parade of exquisite Chinese dishes which appeared on the hot plate at our table. The nice thing about that sort of food was that it did not weigh heavily after the meal was finished, which was just as well in the circumstances. 

 Our holiday hadn’t been a honeymoon because we weren’t married but at least we both felt that we might be one day, once we had sorted out the marital mess created by Diana, my wife. We had been down to Cairns and out to the Reef and stayed overnight on Green Island. Then we had gone on to Sydney and managed a concert in the Opera House. We had also visited Liz Ward’s very expensive boutique downtown in Pitt Street Mall where Mandy complained she couldn’t afford any of the clothes. Of course she wasn’t called Liz Ward any more though the boutique still was. I’d met Liz when I was investigating a catastrophic airplane landing accident at Heathrow, a year or so previously. She was a Brit but she had been working in Sydney for quite a few years, initially for an airline. She was Liz Mansell now, because Liz wouldn’t move to England when I suggested it and so Mike Mansell, our aircraft insurance broker friend who had commissioned me to investigate the accident, had decided he would set up on his own as an aircraft insurance broker in Sydney and he’d persuaded Liz to marry him. 
The four of us had had dinner in the restaurant at the top of the Hotel Nikko and it had been a great evening. Trust Liz to pick that restaurant though, to my surprise, she told Mandy that the two of us had been there before when I was investigating the accident to the RWA Independant 798.

“Liz, he never mentioned it to me. But you know as well as I do that Peter never volunteers information. He always answers questions truthfully as far as I know, but you’ve got to know the questions to ask.” Liz nodded in agreement.

“Now that’s not fair, you two. Your memories are playing you up. It was only when I brought Liz here for a ‘thank you for telling me what had happened’ dinner that I found out what a creative talent she had for making clothes. You wore a super green suit. That’s right Liz? If we hadn’t come here everything might have been very different.” She nodded again and even Mandy acknowledged with a nod that I was right. 

Liz looked at me grinned.

“The suit was blue.”

“Ah, yes Liz. I remember it well.” I’m not sure whether Maurice Chevalier had really forgotten what Gigi was wearing but I certainly hadn’t forgotten what Liz was wearing or the colour. However in the circumstances I didn’t want anybody to think I had total recall. The suit was stunning and Liz had filled it to perfection but that was another story, certainly not for that table.

Mandy brought me back to the present by digging me in the ribs.

“Either concentrate on what you’re thinking or telephone John. Don’t just lie there dreaming of goodness knows what.”

It was Sunday evening in England. John wouldn’t have called me just to pass the time of day. I went over to the desk, got some paper out of the drawer and reached for the phone and dialled the number. I should have used my laptop computer and skypeout but I couldn’t be bothered, it would have taken too long. John answered straightaway. It was difficult to believe he was 6,000 miles away.

“Peter, thanks for returning my call. I hope I didn’t get you out of bed.”

“No comment. What time do you think it is in Hong Kong?”

“Hong Kong? I thought you were in Delhi. I’m sorry I didn’t look. I rang your answering service and the duty girl managed to get hold of your schedule and gave me this number. I never checked the country code. Forget I called. Call me to-morrow.”

“Wait a moment, John, it’s not as easy as that. We’re leaving to-morrow to come home and presumably what you want is important or you wouldn’t have called. I’m wide awake now so you had better tell me what’s up. Surely there hasn’t been an accident? There’s been nothing in the press.”

John Southern was a very big wheel in Hull Claims Insurance and I had met him on several occasions investigating accidents and incidents in the last two or three years. We hadn’t always been on the same side but we respected one another.

“No Peter, you can relax. I’m happy to say that there hasn’t been an accident recently in which my firm is involved.” He paused. “Look Peter, Mindanao Airlines in the Philippines are going to buy new jet aircraft to operate on all their internal services. Up to now they’ve been using a mixture of jets and turboprops; they still have to use the propeller aircraft on their critical airfields because the airfields are too short and rough for the jets. We’ve insured them for some years and never had any problems; actually we inherited their account from another firm we took over. Obviously they are expecting us to continue to insure them when they get their new aircraft. To be quite frank, I don’t know too much about Mindanao’s operation and I don’t want to take on a new commitment blind. The airline will have to borrow the money to purchase the aircraft and I’m pretty sure the lenders will feel as we do, that is reluctant to lend money without checking the airline out. How about it, Peter?”

“How about what? Are you really suggesting that I should delay my return home to go to Manila or wherever just to look at this airline’s maintenance facilities?”

“And their flight operations department as well, including the way they do their training. It may seem routine to you but it is important for us.”

“What aircraft are they buying, John?”

“That’s a good question. They haven’t decided yet but they seem to be considering only two aircraft. They are the Independant 886 and the European Aerospace 531, both developments of earlier aircraft with the performance optimised for short field operation.”

“The next thing you’ll be wanting is for me to decide which is the better aircraft.”

“It’s funny you should say that. Yes, I wouldn’t mind having your opinion on that as well.”

“John, I don’t like it. Why aren’t Boeing involved anyway? It’s not like them not to compete.”

“They didn’t have a suitable 737 variant. Anyway Boeing can’t be bothered to support a long demonstration.”

 “A long demonstration. What do you mean?”

“Well it looks as if an 886 is going to go onto the Philippine register and carry fare paying passengers on the airline’s regular schedules, turboprop and turbojet.”

“What about the 531?”

“I think they have done a demonstration already.”

“Carrying passengers?”

“I don’t think so. Anyway not fare paying ones. Just some quick demonstrations and training flights flown by European Aerospace pilots.” 
“Hey, John. This is going to cost you. The more you tell me, the more concerned I get. I’m old enough to know that the last thing I need is to be involved in a battle between aircraft manufacturers. You know as well as I do that both European and Independant are prepared to go to almost any lengths with the airline in order to win the competition. They’ll be trying to influence not only all the decision makers in the airline but also the Government agencies and politicians. They’ll do whatever they think it takes to win. They’ll virtually stop at nothing to win.”

“Peter, you’re exaggerating though I do admit neither firm likes losing any selection competition. Anyway will you take the job?”

“How long do you think it will take, John? A working week?”

“Well Independant are sending their first production 886 to Manila sometime this week and, as I indicated, the airline has agreed to use it on their routes, substituting it for their aircraft, both turboprop and turbojet. I’d like you to be there when it arrives and have a look at the operation.”

“OK that sounds like two weeks. I’ll have to think about this.”

“I really would like you to do this, Peter. It shouldn’t be more than the two weeks.” John hesitated and even at 6,000 miles I could sense that he had some unpalatable information for me. “Oh, by the way, there’s something you ought to know. The European Aerospace demonstration apparently went very well.”

“What do you mean by that exactly, John?”

“Well I get the feeling that some people in the corridors of power have already made their minds up.”

“I don’t like the sound of that at all John. It means I will only see one of the two types operating. It’s going to be difficult to advise you properly on airplane suitability. Goodness knows what European Aerospace will be doing. Do you know if they are bringing their 531 back to carry passengers as well?”

“I’ve no idea. I’m sure you’ll know before I do.”

“Wait a moment. I haven’t agreed to do it yet. Two weeks is my absolute maximum and I’m going to charge you a lot more than usual as well as my direct out of pocket expenses.”
“Understood, but as far as we are concerned anything is better than nothing. Will you do it?”

“Alright but my rate will go up dramatically if I have to stay beyond two weeks because I have commitments in the UK.” Mandy nodded vigorously. 
Thinking about it, I decided if I was going to get involved I would need to get briefed in a hurry.

“What have you told the airline?” 

“I’ve warned them I would need to send some one out, not knowing you were actually on their doorstep. I’ll email and fax them now and call them as soon as I can. I must have done something right.”

“Well, I clearly didn’t. I shouldn’t have stayed in Hong Kong. And I certainly shouldn’t have let my secretary tell everyone where I was. Not that you’re not special.” I added hastily and considered the situation. “Yes, you need to send an email or fax; it’s important due to the time change. Please send it straightaway so they get it first thing. Our flight leaves late night, it’s already Monday. Mandy will now have to travel back by herself so I might as well travel to Manila to-morrow afternoon/evening.”

“Peter, can I do anything to help?”

“Thanks for the offer but luckily I’ve arranged a car to meet us and so now it will take just Mandy to Kingston. She’s on BAJ5212 getting in at 5.30 Tuesday morning. She’s on business class so her bags should be out quickly.” Mandy clearly wasn’t over the moon listening to the conversation but accepted that I was doing my best and, of course, realised that I needed the work. “John, I’ll need a letter of authority. You had better fax me one here at the hotel and also attach it in an email so I can print a decent copy when I get near a printer. Talk to you later.”

I put the phone down. Mandy got up and sat on the side of the bed, looking across at me. 

“How long do you think you’re going to be in the Philippines, Peter?”

“Two weeks probably but in view of the aircraft competition it could drag on a bit. I’ll try not to get involved but it may not be easy. All John really wants is for me to advise him on whether Mindanao Airlines can be trusted with new modern aircraft. I’ve got to look at their pilot training and at their maintenance procedures and then report back.”

“It’s strange, John wanting you to do the work for him. You’ve cost his firm, Hull Claims, a packet in the last year or so investigating accidents.”

“Not really, Mandy. All I did was to establish what happened. Who actually pays is outside my responsibility. You know better than I do it’s the way the insurance policies and the warranties are written that determines the end result. Hopefully he recognises that I try to be absolutely fair. I’ve got no axe to grind.”

Mandy came over to me and put her hand on my shoulder.

“Well, Peter Talbert, let me give you some advice. Don’t get involved with anything except the job you’re paid to do. It’s not your worry which aircraft is chosen. It’s not your decision on whether the aircraft is safe to operate, that’s up to the Department of Transport isn’t it?” I indicated my agreement. “It’s no good nodding your head like that. I’m beginning to know you. You get out to a place and then you start going into everything that doesn’t concern you and come up smelling of perfume.”

“Don’t you mean smelling of roses?”

“I know what I mean and I know you. I’m very suspicious and I don’t like it. One day you won’t come up or if you do, it won’t be roses or perfume you’ll be smelling of! You need to watch it. Someone will bump you off. Airline ordering is big money and outsiders are not welcome.”

Mandy was right of course, about airline orders. Invariably in an airline there were different factions backing the competing aircraft. The choice was normally Boeing against Airbus or European against Independant or some mixture of the four. European Aerospace was based in Germany at Hamburg but it had many European sub-contractors. Independant was a fairly new company based in the Seattle area using Everett Field to the north. The firm had been financed by venture capitalists, including some millionaires from Microsoft and the secret of their enormous success was that nearly everything was subcontracted at very keen prices and, of course, the availability of expert engineers from Boeing who had been laid off when Boeing had had to shrink some time back due to Airbus competition. The Everett facility was just an assembly and flight test organisation 
Airplane competitions always worried me. The manufacturers invariably had agents in the country they were selling to and the stories of how ‘special commissions’ were spread around when aircraft were being selected were legion in the Aerospace community. The problem occurred because aircraft were so expensive that even a tiny percentage of the price was big bucks to the people who made the decision. However much the companies might protest, the size of the commission that manufacturers paid to their agents could only be explained by assuming that some of the money found its way into some of the decision makers’ pockets. 

“Come back from wherever you are Peter. I’m sorry I ever mentioned the subject. But please be careful. You have a straightforward task ahead of you. Don’t complicate it please, for my sake. I want you home in one piece, fully operational.” She looked at me. “Which reminds me.” 

Mandy went into the bathroom and exchanged her nightdress for a new slip which I had not seen before. It looked too small but I wasn’t going to quibble, even if it didn’t cover anything worth mentioning. I’d only seen a slip like that once before and then it was worn by an insurance investigator with whom I was working, but now didn’t seem the right moment to mention it. She came over to where I was sitting. 

“Do you like the shopping I did to-day when you were visiting Cathay? I really should have used your credit card as I only bought it for you.”

“Well it couldn’t have cost very much. There’s very little of it. It doesn’t hide much and what it does hide is clearly visible.” 

“It’s not meant to and what you said doesn’t make sense. Anyway are you complaining?” I got up from my chair as she came over to me. “Well you seem to like it. Very much indeed.” There was a pause. “Why don’t we go over to the bed?” I didn’t argue. It seemed a sensible idea in the circumstances. 

Later on I made Mandy some tea from a kettle that was hidden away underneath the television set.

“We’re getting a very domesticated couple, Peter. It’s nice living with someone you can depend on.”

I thought about that. I wasn’t at all sure I wanted to be domesticated. I watched Mandy drink her tea and I turned off the lights. We lay quietly for a bit.

 “Mandy, I always thought solicitors were very prim and correct and didn’t have time for any extraneous social activities.”

“My darling, I would have thought by now that you had established that your solicitor is not in that mould.”

“Are you my solicitor? I’ve never thought of you as that. Do I get special rates?”

“You have to pay the full rates plus a surcharge for all the extra aggravation you cause me, but you get fringe benefits on the side.”

“Well at least they’re free of tax.”

“Maybe but remember, there’s no such thing as a free ride.”

“I had noticed, Ms. Arrowsmith.” I pushed her to make certain she wasn’t dropping off to sleep. “Mandy, do you think we’ll have heard from Diana’s solicitor when we get back? It would be so nice to get everything settled.” Diana had disappeared some years ago and had ‘remarried’ in the USA. She claimed to have divorced me first but even Mandy wasn’t sure if the divorce was legal.

“Darling, increasingly my view is that we shouldn’t bother testing the validity of the divorce in Nevada but that you should go ahead and divorce her on the grounds of desertion. Thank goodness we now know where she is and so there shouldn’t be a problem.”

“You’re right, as usual. Can you get things moving when you get back?”

“I could but I think I would prefer one of my partners to do it since I’m personally involved. I may be your solicitor girl friend but I don’t like acting professionally for you.”

“Well just at the moment I hope you’re not exercising your talents professionally. I’m not sure I could afford it. Hadn’t I better take off your new slip? We don’t want to spoil it.”

In the middle of the night I woke up. Mandy was lying next to me, sleeping deeply. I thought about my conversation with John Southern. The situation would be much more complicated than he realised. The choice of aircraft could depend so much on what criteria were being examined. Each manufacturer would have produced an airline analysis for their aircraft. The total operating costs, flying, maintenance, training, depreciation and cost of borrowing the money would have been considered, together with the network being used and the likely income from the passengers. Assumptions would have been made and an answer would have been produced which proved emphatically that their particular aircraft was the better. I did not want to go down that route at all. Those documents could only be evaluated by the airline. What I could do, I supposed, was to look at the margin of safety of each aircraft flying from the critical strips. Anyway perhaps the solution would be easy; neither aircraft would be suitable. But that was clutching at straws, it was bound to be more complicated than that.

I got up gently without disturbing Mandy and looked out of the window across the water to Kowloon. The boats were still plying their trade even in the middle of the night. China had nominally taken over the Colony but to casual visitors like ourselves, nothing seemed to have changed, apart from the uniform of the immigration and custom officials. This was our second night spoiling ourselves in the Mandarin. After we had said good by to the Mansell’s and left Sydney we had managed to find time to go up to Alice Springs and then across to Perth where we had two idyllic days on Rottnest Island. Time had rushed by and we should both have been going back to England to-morrow. 

My forthcoming visit to the Philippines was clearly going to be a strange experience. It was a country I had never visited before and consequently I didn’t know anybody. Perhaps I should start in a conventional way and visit the embassy to get briefed. I made a mental note to ring them in the morning as I reviewed what I needed to do. I wondered where Mindanao Airlines was based, in the centre of the country or right down in the South as its name suggested? I was sure I’d have to start by going to Manila. I’d suggested to John that I’d take a late afternoon flight but Mandy’s flight wasn’t until 10.30 so I decided I’d better organise a late check out at 6 o’clock. She’d still have an hour or so to wait at the new airport Chep Lap Kok before her 10.30 departure but she’d be able to wait in the business class lounge so it wouldn’t be too bad. I remembered I hadn’t cancelled my own flight yet. I decided to do that when I booked my flight. There was no hurry. I got back into bed and thought about Mandy.
I was glad I’d arranged for her to be met by a taxi service at 5.30 in the morning at Heathrow and the taxi was going to take her straight to my house in Kingston where she could rest before going into work. She had most of her working wardrobe there these days anyway and she was spending less and less time in her flat at Bournemouth during the week. I thought she was being unwise not to go straight to bed for the rest of the day but she had insisted that she ought to go into the office and work until mid-afternoon. I hoped she was only catching up with the mail and not making crucial decisions after flying all night. Of course it wasn’t as bad as it seemed if you were flying from the Far East. At least it was dark all the way and you could sleep for twelve hours if the cabin staff let you. Going east across the Atlantic was much harder because it was only a very short night and some of the airlines still tried to serve food instead of letting you sleep. 

Mandy rolled over towards me and half woke. She made sure I was still there and then went back to sleep. I finally dropped off thinking of all the things I needed to do, like checking in with my office in London using the hotel’s wifi service and my computer. I hadn’t logged on for three days to check my email but they obviously knew where I was because they had given John my number. Anyway if there had been anything really important Jill, the secretary looking after my work, would have phoned me or sent a fax.

Mandy woke me at 7.30, I must have really slept deeply when I did drop off. She had put her new slip back on but nothing else. I looked at her appreciatively.

“Are we having a French breakfast or are we going downstairs?”

“Stop bragging. I’m not sure you could manage a French breakfast the way you’ve been behaving. Why don’t we have a swim in the inside pool and then decide?”

Mandy put on a rather brief one piece costume and I wore some new bathing shorts which Mandy had bought for me. Clad in bathing robes thoughtfully provided by the hotel we went down to the inside pool and swam a few lengths. We had left it a bit late and there were quite a few other swimmers but it wasn’t too difficult to find a clear lane. As we got back to our room we could see that there was a fax which had been put underneath the door. It was from John Southern giving me the name of Mindanao’s CEO, Alan Robles, with his address and telephone number in Manila. He was expecting me to call on Tuesday morning for an appointment. We decided to have breakfast at the Peninsular Hotel in Kowloon, overlooking the harbour with a magnificent view of Hong Kong. As we were nearly ready to leave our room the phone rang. It was Robles’ secretary. My flight was the Mindanao flight at 1615 getting in at 1800. I was booked in the Intercontinental in Makati and the tickets would be at the business class check-in.

We caught a cab and went in the tunnel to Kowloon and drew up in front of the oldest and most prestigious hotel in Kowloon. We had decided that there was no point in economising. We were unlikely to be coming out again and Mandy was a very successful London solicitor. By the time we reached the restaurant and been shown to our table we were quite hungry, especially as I had spent some time on the phone just as we were about to leave, first cancelling my BA flight and then making an appointment with the commercial attaché in Manila for the following morning. However, it was a great spot for breakfast and we took our last look at the harbour. After breakfast we had a quick walk through the shops and returned exhausted to the hotel at midday. We had chosen to go back with the hordes of local foot passengers on the Star ferry to the hotel instead of using the tunnel just to get a final flavour of the place. 

Our packing took longer than it might because we decided on a side trip while we were getting changed, but then we didn’t stay in the Mandarin Hotel in Hong Kong every day and somehow making love in the middle of the day overlooking the harbour while we were getting changed seemed gloriously abandoned.

“Will you be able to manage and get to the flight, my love?”

“Yes, darling, I may be a fragile female but I am able to take a taxi to the airport.”

“Will you call my parents when you get in and let them know we’re alright?”

“Yes dear. I promise, and I will call mine as well. Have you any other novel instructions for me?”

“Yes. Don’t start talking to any strange men.”

“Now he tells me. What do you think I’ve been doing for the last three weeks?”

I tightened up the strap on my rather large case and hooked my computer round my rolling travelling bag. I didn’t really like doing that as it made the bag rather clumsy but it kept one hand free. I kissed Mandy good-bye but she called out just as I was leaving.

“And don’t you start talking to any attractive women. I still haven’t got to the bottom of some your other adventures, even if you did.”

“Don’t be coarse, my dear. I’ll call you as soon as there is a suitable time slot, probably mid afternoon Hong Kong time as you are getting up or a bit later in the office.”

 The elevator whisked me to the lobby where I settled the room account and caught a cab to the airport. My ticket was waiting at the check-in desk and I was glad of business class since I had a bit more room for my bag and my legs underneath the seat in front of me. The aircraft was an ubiquitous Boeing 737 and the flight was uneventful. As we taxied in it was clear that Manila International was not one of the world’s most modern airports but in fact the immigration line was not too bad and I was through with my bags in 40 minutes. The heat and humidity seemed terrific compared with Hong Kong as I stood and waited for a cab. Nevertheless in spite of everything, I was checking in at the InterContinental about 1 hour 15 minutes after landing. My room, 506, was a typical twin double bedded hotel room which they had tried to decorate to make it seem homely with flowers not only on the table but also in vases on the wall. However, on inspection only the ones on the table were real. There was a large bowl of fruit wrapped in cellophane. After unpacking I switched on  my computer, found there was wifi and collected my mail. I decided there was nothing that couldn’t wait so I switched on the TV to be presented with a real mixture of programmes from around the world and I chose the BBC World Service to send me to sleep.

***

 I was awake at 6.30. It was already light and I was able to look down over the large but empty pool. The air conditioning had been on low all night and so it was quite a shock, as I went to swim, to find out how warm and humid it was outside, even at that hour in the morning. The pool was still empty and I swam ten lengths before going back up to my room. My appointment at the embassy was for 10 o’clock and it did not seem sensible to do anything else first, particularly as the embassy was in Ayala Avenue, the same street as the hotel, though I did not fancy walking there in the heat wearing my regulation blue suit, even if it was very light weight. 

 The coffee shop had two sections, inside and outside, and I went outside in the shade and ordered papaya, orange juice and coffee. It was a magnificent breakfast, ideal for the climate, and I digested it by reading the Manila Times which seemed to be full of extortion and slaying, particularly in Manila and the Southern Philippines; I reflected that these days the UK was probably just as bad despite what the politicians said. Back in my room I called Mindanao Airlines and asked to speak to Alan Robles. His secretary welcomed me to Manila and told me he was busy but said that his diary showed a gap at 4.15 that afternoon if that would acceptable. We settled for that and I tried to do some work on my mail. My phone rang and a very British sounding Jeremy Spencer came on the line. He explained he was the Far East marketing executive for the European Aerospace Company resident in Singapore and was staying in Manila at the Intercontinental for a few days. When could we meet up? 

“You people don’t waste any time. How on earth did you know I was here?”

“We have our ways.” He clearly wasn’t going to tell me which suited me as I wasn’t at all keen to talk to him, not yet anyway.

“Well Mr. Spencer, there’s no point in our talking at the moment. I am completely unbriefed on what is going on and, anyway, my job is with the airline.”
“I believe you’re here to advise which, in your opinion, is the best aircraft for Mindanao airlines?”

“No, Mr. Spencer. I’m here to look at the Mindanao airline operation; maintenance, training, despatch, flight operations. I may give an opinion on the flight operation capability of the Independant 886 and the European Aerospace 531 if I’m asked to and if I’m in a position to do so; however that’s most unlikely as I understand your aircraft has already been. By the way are there more aircraft being considered besides yours and the 886?”

“I don’t believe so, Mr. Talbert.”

“You mentioned ‘the best aircraft’ for Mindanao.”

“Touché. I meant the better aircraft.”

“OK. I thought I’d missed a trick.”

“I have a feeling Mr. Talbert you don’t miss many tricks. If I may so say, your reputation is well known in the aerospace world.”

“That’s your opinion Mr. Spencer.”

Spencer decided to try again.

“Surely Hull Claims will want to know your views about the competing aircraft?”

“Possibly, but I’m not going out of my way to make an assessment. Anyway, whether either of the aircraft, yours or Independant’s is suitable for the airline depends on many other factors like the performance of the aircraft, the price of the aircraft, the way support is being handled and the spares, the availability and cost of capital to name just a few factors affecting the choice of an aircraft. I can’t possibly advise Hull Claims on these matters.”

“Well I can certainly help you with the aircraft performance. I can let you have a copy of our performance manual which includes the Flight Manual data as well.”

“Mr. Spencer, the Flight Manual performance is just one document of many the airline will need to evaluate the suitability of your aircraft. Does your performance manual include what your firm claims for cruising speed, fuel consumption and the other parameters not measured by the certification authorities, EASA in the case of the 531?”

“Yes Mr. Talbert, it does and, for good measure, I will let you have the route study as well showing the payloads that can be carried and the revenue generated.”

“Mr. Spencer I don’t need these documents now and I certainly won’t need the route study; I’m not qualified to decide how the performance translates into revenue. However, if you like to leave the documents in an envelope or bag at the desk marked for my attention I will try to look at them before I return to England.” I paused and then went on. “Perhaps I ought to mention something else. I’m sure you realise that Flight Manual performance is measured under ideal conditions and there is very little allowance for operation from rough, slippery airfields. I would imagine the airline will be taking that into account.”

“Oh I’m sure there won’t be a problem in that area. The aircraft is excellent under those conditions.” He went on. “Peter, may I call you that? I don’t like the idea of leaving the aircraft documents at the desk. I’d like to meet you and give you the material personally. When do you suggest.”
“Mr. Spencer I do understand the problem of leaving the manuals unattended. However I am not ready to meet you yet. Why don’t we leave it that I will call you when I’ve seen the airline and determined my work schedule. I’m afraid that you’ll just have to wait for a bit. If you’ll excuse me, I must get on.”

I rang off feeling very uncomfortable. I didn’t like being pressurised though he sounded a nice enough person, certainly on the phone, though a bit too determined for my taste. I needed to find out where he was placed in the European Aerospace marketing hierarchy. Anyway it wasn’t my concern yet. I looked at my watch and saw it was time to leave. I put on my tie and carried my jacket down to the lobby. I changed all the Australian and Hong Kong dollars I had left into pesos, probably not very sensible from an exchange rate point of view but when it was done the inside of my wallet looked distinctly more useful and a lot thicker. There was a line of cabs and the driver of my cab took me the very short distance down the street without complaining; thank goodness the cab was air conditioned. The road was crowded with every imaginable vehicle under the sun including some old Jeepneys, Jeeps converted into taxis, so it took a little time to reach the Locsin Building. 

At the reception desk the Filipino girl took my name and called Fred Carrier, the commercial attaché. She asked me to wait and I sat down and gratefully picked up the previous day’s copy of the Financial Times, printed in Singapore. There didn’t seem to be a lot happening in the UK and I was just settling down to digest what news there was, when Fred arrived and introduced himself. I guessed he was just a few years older than I was, lean, 5ft. 10in. and nearly as dark as the natives; he clearly had been in post for some time. He took me up in the elevator to the 15th floor and then led the way to his carpeted office. We sat down in easy chairs by a low table and as if by magic, but obviously pre-arranged, a local girl arrived with a choice of drinks. It was clearly important to drink a lot in the heat and I chose coffee and water, as did Fred.

“Well what brings you out here? We don’t see as many business people here from the UK as we would like and even fewer come in here to be briefed, so you are particularly welcome.”

 I explained to Fred my connection with Mindanao Airlines and the airline’s need to get the new aircraft that they bought properly insured, whatever the type.
“They insure their aircraft in the UK market with Hull Claims rather than in the United States which is good, but very sensibly Hull Claims Insurance want to be satisfied that the airline is a good risk before agreeing to take on the insurance of brand new expensive jet aircraft. They told Mindanao that they would be sending someone out and then they asked me to do the job. They want me to check every aspect of Mindanao’s operation and then report back.”

“Have you done this sort of thing before, Peter? It must be quite difficult judging an airline’s competence.”

“Not really. It’s surprising what you can learn just by standing and watching. I’ve done quite a few insurance investigations since I stopped flying and Hull Claims have got to know me quite well, even though I sometimes haven’t been too helpful to them.”

“I suppose you know the background to Mindanao Airlines, do you Peter?”

“Not at all, that’s why I came to see you.”

“Well at one stage all the internal services in the Philippines were carried out by Philippine Airlines. Furthermore the airline used to be privately owned but nowadays it is a public corporation. Nobody these days likes a monopoly supplier, even if it is regulated, and so competition was allowed. Quite a few airlines got established, but only Mindanao Airlines survived to become a real competitor to Philippine Airlines, flying to Hong Kong as well as internally. Furthermore, Mindanao fly into airports which are no longer served by Philippine airlines. Of course that’s why they need the new ‘allcando’ turbojet so they can replace their turboprops and their 737s with one type of aircraft.
“Now you have to appreciate that the Philippines relies on internal air transportation enormously with all the hundreds of islands. In fact at the last count there were about 7,000. There are two main Islands, Luzon here in the North and Mindanao in the South. And then there are the Visayan group in the central Philippines which include Cebu and Mactan. You are going to hear quite a bit about Mactan because that’s the maintenance base of the airline, though the administrative and flight operational base is here in Makati. 

“The only alternative to air travel is to go by boat which takes forever, or even longer sometimes when a storm capsizes a ferry, an unwelcome but unfortunately a fairly regular occurrence. To make matters worse the terrain is fairly inhospitable, particularly in the south with a lot of extinct or almost extinct volcanoes and, despite the fact that a lot of work has been done improving the airfields, there are still quite a few unpaved ones and also some short paved landing strips which are important staging posts. As I said, the airlines still have to use turboprops to operate from these strips but the amount of traffic is growing and the passengers are demanding more comfortable, more reliable, more sophisticated and safer aircraft.”

“That seems very reasonable but are there any modern aircraft that can do the job from these strips? How long are they?”

“Yes. Those are good questions, Peter. There are quite a few strips shorter than 4,000 ft. as you will see, and predictably the manufacturers claim that their aircraft can operate safely from these airfields and, of course, with outstanding economics. As you know there are really only two contenders for Mindanao Airlines to consider, the Independant aircraft and one from European Aerospace. From the UK point of view we want the European Aerospace 531 to win the competition because we make 38% of the airframe and engines, so I’m personally delighted you are out here, doing your job.”

 I interrupted him.

“Fred, please don’t think I can wear a particular hat or carry a flag. My job primarily is nothing to do with deciding which is the better aircraft nor even whether either aircraft can operate out of the Philippine airfields. Hull Claims want to hear my views on whether I consider the airline maintains its aircraft properly, whether the aircraft are dispatched correctly and whether they are flown in a proper manner, which means also checking that the correct training is given to the airline staff.”

“I understand that, Peter, but life being what it is, there is no way in my opinion that you will be able to avoid getting entangled in the airplane decision.”

“Well you may be right but it is not my top priority.”

“Presumably you know that the European Aerospace 531 did a quick demonstration tour here about six weeks ago trying to prove that the aircraft could go into all the difficult airfields. I’m told that the Mindanao Board, and of course the Department of Transport, were delighted and were all set to approve an order. However Independant were very unhappy and have persuaded the airline to let them demonstrate their 886 in actual service. They are supplying an aircraft and two captains, which will be supplemented with local aircrew who have been trained on the aircraft already, to actually operate on the Mindanao routes with fare paying passengers.”

“Yes Fred, John Southern of Hull Claims gave me some background. Surely that will mean bringing the aircraft on to the Philippine register. Has the Department of Transport agreed to that?”

“Very reluctantly. If it hadn’t been for the local opposition press, the international papers and the media, together with the US Government pressurising them very hard, I’m sure they would have said no.”

“You would have thought that the Philippine Government and of course the airline would have welcomed a competition. Isn’t that rather suspicious?”

Fred looked very worried. He leant right forward towards me and lowered his voice.

“Be very careful, Peter, when and where you make remarks like that. The Government in general I’m sure would want a competition but maybe there are some who have been persuaded otherwise. In fact the working level of the airline did want a competition and so Alan Robles was in a difficult position. As I mentioned I suspect the Airline Board would have been happy to settle for the 531. Anyway the Board left the decision to Robles and he agreed to let the 886 have it’s fling. Apparently the DOT reluctantly agreed to validate the pilots’ and the mechanics’ FAA licences to keep the whole thing kosher to comply with the Philippine’s Airline Operating Licence rules. As you are here, you won’t be able to avoid watching the 886 operation, and that will catapult you into the decision making process whether you like it or not. If you take my advice you  should keep your views to yourself because they may not be in accord with the Mindanao Board or possibly the DOT.”

“I don’t know about the decision making process. As you say I shall probably have to agree to watch the route proving and so have an opinion on the safety of the operation out of the strips. However let’s assume the aircraft can operate safely out of the strips, the airline has to consider all sorts of other things before choosing the better aircraft, the cost of borrowing the purchase money for a start.” I considered what Fred was telling me. “What about European Aerospace? Are they going to come back and show that they can operate with fare paying passengers? It seems strange to have one airline doing the job properly and the other just going through the motions and not demonstrating seriously.”

“Don’t know the answer to that question but I do know European are very unhappy with Mindanao agreeing to the Independant airline operation. They are confident that their aircraft is significantly better and they see no need to return. Of course they are well aware that the US Government is supporting Independant and is currently pushing like mad to make sure that the Independant 886 is chosen.” He paused to drink some coffee. “You know there has been a tradition of US influence in the Philippines for nearly a century. There is no equivalent in Europe to the US Government and the Federal Aviation Agency pushing the cause of the 531, since despite all the propaganda from Brussels, Europe is just a collection of nation states. The Commission can try to help but in these matters they don’t have real clout. The Philippine Government pays much more attention if the German Chancellor, or the French President or our Prime Minister should he come out. It may come to that, who knows.”

“Well Fred, I’m sure that aircraft sales are no different from sales of other large items of capital equipment. Excuse me if I’m saying the obvious. Firstly the aircraft must have the right performance, that is it must be technically acceptable and then the commercial terms must be right with a competitive price and good financial terms. And then …”

Fred interrupted me.

“You’re missing something out, Peter. It’s not quite as simple as that, is it?”

“No it’s not. As you obviously realise the customer must be persuaded to buy the aircraft. I can see you’re way ahead of me. As you well know the problem is that in most countries of the world the person who makes the selection expects to get rewarded for making the choice, though of course the subject is never, ever discussed. We call that bribery in England but in many countries it is the accepted practice. The unpalatable fact is that it is no use trying to apply UK ethics all over the world, or democracy for that matter, but that is another story. To win contracts you have to adopt the procedures of the country you are selling to or you won’t win the business. I’m not a salesman so I have no idea what happens here in the Philippines and I don’t want to know. I’m sure it is no different from the rest of the world.”

“Peter, I don’t want to know either. One is aware that these thing happen but hopefully it won’t be an issue on this sale.”

“I hope you’re right, Fred. Incidentally I’m surprised you’re mentioning it. I thought Her Majesty’s Government pretends that these things don’t happen. Anyway I’m happy to say that my little observation window out here will look out only onto the technical capability of the airline and maybe a little on the safety of the aircraft flight operations and I’m going to keep it that way. I don’t want to know who is in who’s pocket.”

 “Alright Peter. I hear what you say but if there is a chance to help the UK, I’m sure you will. Please come here as often as you like while you are out here. Apart from anything else we like to know here in the Embassy what’s going on in the real world.”

We carried on chatting and I was quite impressed with Fred’s knowledge of the airline industry in the Philippines. Fred asked if I would like to have lunch somewhere. He suggested the commercial centre in Makati and, though I wasn’t particularly hungry, I agreed to go since it would start to give me a feel of the place. He chose a small restaurant which reflected the impact that the United States had had on the Country through the years. The menu was not too different from a similar lunchtime bar in the USA except some of the dishes were clearly local. I wasn’t feeling adventurous and chose a tuna sandwich with iced tea and Fred did the same. 

“Do you ever get used to going in and out of these air conditioned places? It seems to me one moment you’re outside and the heat is very oppressive and the next moment you plunge in to an ice cold room.”

“It’s not that bad, Peter, but I agree that the restaurants and bars in particular tend to be too cold, I suppose to encourage the customers to eat. If we didn’t live in air conditioned accommodation most of the time I’m sure we’d eat a lost less which I’m convinced would be good for us but I’m afraid we’re not about to change. 

“You know you’ve come at a bad time. The climate isn’t that bad early in the year. The problem now of course is that it’s May and we’ve just started the south west monsoon. We get a lot of rain and the humidity keeps very high with temperatures still in the 80s and 90s Fahrenheit though it feels like Centigrade sometimes. As you’re discovering, if you stay outside for long with European clothes on you just melt. And incidentally this weather doesn’t make flying any easier out in the boondocks or whatever the Tagalog equivalent is. Don’t forget we’re lucky if we only get six typhoons during the season.”

He had a real point there. It would be interesting to see how the airline coped with the problem. The local pilots must be very used to it but there would be less margin for error with the new, faster aircraft. We returned to Fred’s office and I collected my bag and caught a cab back to the hotel. Up in my room I thought of calling Mandy but it would only be 7 a.m. in the morning. She might be asleep if I phoned Kingston so I decided to try later. My phone rang and a female voice with a strong United States accent came on the line.

“Peter Talbert?” I didn’t argue so she carried on. “My name is Rosemary Robinson and I represent the Independant Transport Aircraft Company. We heard you were out here representing Hull Claims Insurance and I’d very much like to meet you.”

“Ms. Robinson, I’m not sure why you’re phoning me but if it’s to do with Mindanao Airlines and their new aircraft you’re probably wasting your time.” I didn’t bother to ask her how she found out about me since I’m sure she’d be like Spencer and not tell me. “I’m not representing Hull Claims but am merely a consultant, visiting the airline.

Ms. Robinson tried to be all sweetness and light.

“Please call me RR, everybody else does.” I felt fairly confident that I could never call any high pressure female marketing executive RR, even if she looked like Marilyn Monroe and was sitting very close to me wearing little but some sensuous perfume. “But surely you are checking on the advisability of Hull Claims insuring their new aircraft? That must mean examining the behaviour of our airplane and the competition’s and advising Hull Claims.”

“My job here is to check on the whole airline operation, maintenance, operations and training. Evaluating the aircraft is not at all high on the list of my priorities.”

“My understanding Mr. Talbert is that Hull Claims is interested in hearing from you the relative merits of the two airplanes.”

“Possibly, as a second priority, if I’m in a position to give some advice then I may give my views to Hull Claims.”

“Well you’ll need to see our performance manual, won’t you?”

I had to admire her approach. She knew what I would need and she obviously felt that the numbers were good.

“Ms. Robinson, if I were going to express an opinion of the suitability of the 886 for Mindanao then I would need to see not only your performance manual but also the Flight Manual. Furthermore, as I was saying to someone from European aerospace earlier to-day, Flight Manual performance is one thing, how an aircraft behaves on short, rough, slippery airfields is something else.”

There was a distinct pause as Ms. Robinson realised that European had got to me first.

“We are not at all worried about slippery airfields. The aircraft we are proposing for Mindanao has extra large wheels, brakes and tyres.”

“Well that’s fine but the proof of the pudding is in the eating. The monsoon is here and some of the shorter airfields might be demanding.”

“So when can I let you have the manuals you will need and the route study?”

 “Ms. Robinson, I’m not ready for the manuals yet. I’ll call you when I need them.”

“Fine and I’ll let you have our route study for the airline as well.”

“Ms. Robinson, I don’t need or want the route study. That information is for the bean counters, not for me.”

 “Well I’ll give you a copy anyway. When you’ve got your airline program sorted out I’ll call you and see if we can meet. Bye for now.”

I tried to analyse my feelings. Both manufacturers had now called before I had gone anywhere near the airline but I tried not to be tetchy. After all, both Spencer and Robinson in their different ways were only trying to do their jobs. What they didn’t know was that the more I was pressurised the more difficult I tended to become. Perhaps it was a weakness on my part but I never liked being rushed. However not surprisingly, at the very least they both wanted me to be properly briefed if not actively on their side. I put the conversations to the back of mind and got out a map of Manila. Mindanao’s office was in Epifanio Delos Santos Avenue also in Makati but some way away from the hotel so my cab took a lot longer to get there than it had to get to the embassy. Apart from anything else, the traffic seemed even worse, it that were possible. The monsoon was showing its hand and the water was starting to come down like there was no to-morrow. A lot of the street drains were blocked or were not there, so that there were huge pools or lakes on the edges of the streets. However, nobody seemed to find the standing water unusual and we finally made it and drove underneath the front canopy of the building, obviously provided to prevent car occupants from getting soaked. The temperature was marginally cooler but the humidity was 100% so there was no gain in ambient comfort.

I signed in at the lobby, fixed my badge to my shirt and a trim secretary came down to take me up to the top of the building on the 12th floor where Robles worked. She gave me some lemon tea and asked me to wait for a few minutes. There was a range of reading material and I chose the Wall Street Journal, printed in Hong Kong. After a bit Robles’s personal secretary appeared, I guessed it was the lady to whom I had spoken in the morning and she showed me in to Alan Robles office. The room was palatial with a view over downtown Manila and Robles was seated behind a large desk. He got up to welcome me and then we went over to sit at one end of a small conference table.

“Well Mr. Talbert we are very glad to welcome you here. Have you ever been to the Philippines before?”

“No, not at all. At one time I was a 767 line pilot with Britannia and we used to fly out to Australia and do some charter work but we never made it here.”

“I didn’t realise you had been a pilot. For some reason I was convinced you were an engineer.” He obviously thought the professions were mutually exclusive which sub-consciously antagonised me.

“I am an engineer Mr. Robles.” He clearly wasn’t listening and didn’t know when to stop.

“Why did you stop flying, Peter, if I may call you that?”

“Well the doctors found a heart murmur and so I lost my licence. To be honest I didn’t really mind since I was trained as an electronics  engineer and I wanted to use my engineering training. I went to my own specialist and he said that we could almost certainly challenge the doctors and probably win. He also said something which was much more important. He said that my heart murmur was insignificant and that I should live to a ripe old age. In the end I decided not to contest losing my licence and used the loss of licence insurance money which I received to help me get established in a new career.”

“How did you get into the insurance field?”

“Oh I started out by specialising on the interface between the flight crew and the displays/computers on the modern flight deck. It’s a very important subject but it was quite difficult getting a living at first but then I had some luck as I was asked to investigate some accidents. They were very interesting cases and as a result I started getting quite a bit of business from the insurers. As you know Hull Claims Insurance have asked me to look at your operation.” I looked at him. “Mr. Robles I hope you won’t mind my looking at everything. I trust that there won’t be any problems but I’m sure you appreciate that Hull Claims needs to be absolutely certain that you meet all the ICAO requirements. They’ve had one or two large losses recently and they are a bit sensitive.”

“Peter, no problem at all. However, if you feel that our operation is not up to scratch I would appreciate your letting me know. Obviously if there is something wrong I want to put it right straightaway.”

“Yes I can certainly do that but of course I will still have to inform Hull Claims and they may want another check or ask for some more information from you at a later date.”

I wasn’t sure that my answer was what Robles had in mind. I think he would rather have fixed any problems immediately so that I wouldn’t have to tell Hull Claims but that wasn’t the way I intended to operate. Robles changed the subject slightly.

“Have you heard that Independant are loaning us an aircraft so that we can actually operate from some of the strips carrying fare paying passengers? Independant are providing two captains and we have got three captains trained, though they won’t be in command as long as the aircraft belongs to Independant. However, they will be able to fly the airplane not only from the right hand seat but also from the left to get a real feel for the capability of the airplane. If things go well we’ll probably send some co-pilots to be trained and lease the aircraft from Independant,” he stopped and then added “providing Hull Claims will insure the aircraft.”

“What about maintenance and dispatchers?”

“Independant are going to maintain the aircraft and they are going to train our dispatchers. Clearly we can’t operate a full schedule with one aircraft but we are selecting some routes which will be suitable and we shall just substitute the 886 for both our current turboprop and turbojet equipment. Anyway we haven’t got enough crews for a full schedule.”
“When do you start route proving? I assume you are going to check the aircraft operation first?”

“The aircraft is coming in to-morrow and we plan to start flying  it in our colours next Monday doing route proving,. We shall have to take the Department of Transport people for a flight on Sunday as well as some of our staff so that the aircraft can be put on our Air Operators Certificate. We’ll also have to have one or two of the DOT people with us during the route proving.”

“That all sounds very good. What about the European Aerospace 531? I heard they’ve already been out here demonstrating their capability.”

“Yes, they didn’t appear to have any problems.” Robles obviously didn’t want to discuss the matter. “By the way Peter, would you like to go on the 886 route proving?”

“Thank you, Mr. Robles, it would probably be sensible for me to see the aircraft flying into the critical airfields. However as you know that is not my highest priority task. What I need to do as soon as possible is to look at your maintenance procedures and talk to your Flight Operations people. If I go flying before I’ve seen the background of your whole organisation it would be putting the cart before the horse.”

Once again I got the impression that my replies were not what Robles wanted to hear but that didn’t really concern me. He wasn’t employing me and I had a job to do.

“Mr. Robles do you think you could arrange for me to meet your engineering director to-morrow and also your flight operations director so we can make a plan?”

Robles had clearly heard enough and wouldn’t look me in the eye. He called his secretary in, told her to contact his people and arrange the meetings. We shook hands, not too warmly on his part, and I left his office. His secretary said she would contact the offices of Enrico Carandang, the chief pilot, and Frank Roberts, the chief engineer, and get them to call me to make the necessary appointments. I took the elevator to the street level and flagged down one of the never ending stream of cabs to take me back to the hotel. There was a message for me when I collected my key at the desk. Would I please contact Captain Carandang’s office. His secretary answered when I called from my room and said that Captain Carandang would be delighted to take me out to dinner to-night if that would be convenient and we could make subsequent arrangements when we met. He would call my room from the lobby at about 6.30. I told her I had no problem with that arrangement and had a shower to get rid of the effects of the day’s exertions. The phone rang again and I wondered who it was going to be this time.

“Mr. Talbert. My name is Bruno Gonzales and I am the local representative of the European Aerospace Company. I would very much like to meet you.”

“Mr. Gonzales you are the third person who has called me to-day in connection with Mindanao Airlines and the purchase of their new aircraft. I assume that’s what you want to talk about?”

“You are quite correct Mr. Talbert.”

“Well I think it would be premature for us to meet at this time. I have already spoken to your Mr. Spencer and no doubt we will be meeting some time. Now if you will excuse me, good evening.”

I could feel myself getting cross which was silly of me but the fact was that I disliked salesman who tried to push themselves forward. I had the same feeling when I went shopping, I liked to look around first, not that I was buying anything in the Philippines. I was damned if any of them were going to influence me in their favour, quite the reverse.

At 6.30 prompt Carandang rang from the lobby but as I was collecting my jacket to leave the phone rang again, this time it was Frank Roberts. He said that it would be convenient for him if we could meet next day at lunch time in the hotel. He confirmed what I had learnt already, that the maintenance operation was in Mactan and he suggested I kept Thursday and Friday free to visit there. 

Down in the lobby I looked around and saw a man dressed in an airline captain’s uniform looking at the news stand. He turned round and smiled when he saw me looking around and introduced himself. Carandang was of medium height, dark, thin and had the features of a local, though there may have been some European blood in his ancestry.

“Excuse me for wearing my uniform but I’ve only just returned from Davao and haven’t had a chance to get home to change. Where would you like to eat?”

I suggested that the hotel might be best in the circumstances and we decided to eat in the French restaurant on the mezzanine floor. As in hotels the world over, the head waiter looked concerned because we had not made a reservation but managed to find us a table in the nearly empty dining room. For once I was glad the air conditioning was cold since we could both keep our jackets on.

“Peter, have you got used to the time change yet. When did you come out?”

“I’ve been in this time zone or close for the last three weeks on holiday so I don’t have a problem.”

“Well you know we are very excited here at the thought of getting new aircraft for our internal services. The turboprops have served us well but the passengers don’t like them,” he smiled “and nor do we. The sooner we can get things settled the better.”

“Have your turboprop pilots flown jets before, Captain Carandang?” 

“Please call me Rikky, everybody does.” He carried on. “Well most of the Captains have since they would have been first officers on the 737s. The first officers would probably only have flown turboprops.” 

“Rikky as you know, in many ways the new jet aircraft are easier to fly, particularly if there’s an engine failure. There are two problems transitioning from turboprops in my opinion; firstly everything happens that much more quickly on a jet aircraft because the speeds are higher, but the engines are slow to spool up and produce power from low rpm. The second problem is the need to learn about all the new electronics on the flight deck and also the very sophisticated aircraft systems, so that the pilots know the right way to deal with any emergencies.”

“Peter, we’re having active discussions right now on the best way to do the pilot training. Both of the possible manufacturers have made proposals, but I’m not sure that I’m convinced by either of them. I’d prefer to have an independent organisation like Flight Safety but there is a problem because both types of aircraft are new and the simulators are not fully representative.”

“You know Rikky,” he’d told me that that was what everybody called him, “the flight decks of these new aircraft will be almost identical to the earlier types from which they’ve been developed. In fact that’s one of their selling points. I wouldn’t have thought that that would be a problem. However, isn’t it going to cost you more to use Flight Safety?”

“You’re right. The manufacturers offer the initial training for free and of course we’re negotiating to see if the free training could be extended for five years or so. However that decision is for the future.” He looked at me. “Peter, while I believe both pilot and maintenance training is important, I believe the airline needs to be concentrating first on deciding whether either aircraft can actually do the job. There seems to be too much work going on in the financial arena and not nearly enough on the flight operations side. The 737 of course can’t operate out of the short strips with any decent payload and fly to Manila which is the key airfield for the international interline traffic. The 886 and the 531 claim to be able to do so but we’ve got to be very careful.”

“But I thought the 531 had already flown round your critical airfields and shown that there wasn’t a problem?”

“They brought the 531 here nearly two months ago, before the monsoon season. The weather was superb and it flew two circular courses going from one airfield to another. The aircraft was never at maximum landing or take-off weights. It was very cleverly done and the decision makers in the airline and DOT just loved it. Pretty stewardesses, lots of alcohol, food and a night stop at the best hotel in the Southern Philippines. There was also a special flight for the Prime Minister and Minister of Transport.”

“How did the aircraft fly, out of the short fields, Rikky?”

“Good question. That’s what we wanted to know. We weren’t let anywhere near the controls during the demonstration flights. European graciously allowed us to fly the aircraft here at Manila and at Mactan but there was so much other traffic we only got one or two landings in and it was impossible to assess the aircraft. Mind you I liked the side stick controller; much nicer than a conventional hand wheel and the view of the instrument panel was superb, completely unobstructed. The aircraft departed in a blaze of glory with the European marketing people beaming all over their faces.”

“Including a Mr. Gonzales who called me to-day?”

“Especially Mr. Gonzales. I’m not surprised he’s been onto you already. He never misses a trick.”

“Well what happened after the 531 left if I may ask? Presumably Independant managed to persuade you to have a demonstration.”

“Well what happened was way above my level. When I was consulted I gave my opinion that we should have a look at the 886. I pointed out that the weather can be very poor and that the runways get very wet and slippery. I explained that it’s by no means certain that we will be able to achieve safely what the manufacturers’ performance engineers claimed that we should be able to do. It was excellent news when Alan Robles agreed. He’s a good chap at heart though he gets an awful lot of pressure put on him from above. He must have been in a difficult position.”

 “Yes it must be good news about the 886 from your point of view. I do agree with you completely that in your climate you need to see any aircraft you might be considering buying working at the limit, because the Flight Manual performance cannot really allow for continual operation ‘at the corners of the flight envelope’ with slippery short and rough strips.”

“I like your expression though we’re not at the high speed ‘corners of the flight envelope.’ ”

“No you’re not. But the low speed corners can be just as demanding and critical. Of course, my job out here is to advise the insurers whether, in my opinion, Mindanao’s operation and training is correct, adequate, up to speed, whatever words you like to use. But Hull Claims do want me to comment on whether I think either of your two aircraft contenders can operate safely from the strips and possibly pass an opinion on which aircraft might be better operationally. I’m not sure how I’m going to do that since the 531 has been and gone.”

“Peter, are you going to fly in the Independant 886 with us?”

“Yes I’m looking forward to it. You know that’s the second time I’ve been asked that question to-day. Your Mr. Robles asked me the same thing earlier and I said that it was not my priority task or words to that effect. However I told him that I would go on the critical flights.”

“What did he say?”

“To be honest he didn’t seem very pleased with my remark about priorities.”

“Well Peter, to be quite frank, we’re not too pleased that Hull Claims won’t accept our standards without getting you to check. However we don’t have much alternative but to let you look us over. In fact we’ve got nothing to hide and I do see that we need to keep the increase in insurance premiums to a minimum if, and when, we have the latest jet aircraft. I suppose we could consider changing our insurers but better the devil you know and anyway they might cost more. New insurers might be stricter. We’re certainly going to need a loan from ExIm bank or some European organised equivalent and the bank will need assurance that their loan is safe I suppose.”

“I don’t think countries are allowed to overtly financially support aircraft sales any more. The World Trade Organisation doesn’t allow it. Mind you there are always hidden subsidies in my experience.”

Rikky nodded agreement.

 “Look Rikky, we both know that the approval of the operation of a new aircraft has to come from your Department of Transport not from Peter Talbert advising Hull Claims. If they turn the aircraft down that lets me of the hook. However, if they approve the operation into these fields I might still have reservations. I hope you appreciate that, Rikky.”

“Of course I do. Why don’t we agree to meet, just the two of us, after the route proving is complete to discuss the matter?”

“Maybe. Of course once you’ve used the aircraft in regular airline operation for some time you’ll have a very good idea of the it’s suitability. However I certainly would be happy to discuss my views with you before I leave. But please don’t tell anybody what we are going to do or things could get very difficult.” 

 “Why are you so keen not to be involved, Peter? I would have thought you would have found it very interesting looking at the performance of both aircraft and judging which is better.”

“Yes, to be honest I am very interested. The problem is that, as you well know, the pressures that are brought on an airline by a manufacturer are immense and it is that aspect that that I’m trying to avoid if I can. They are already trying to pressurise me and that puts my back up. I’m sure you must be feeling the strain already, as is Frank Roberts and, in fact, everybody in the decision making process.” Rikky nodded, half to himself. “My problem is that I won’t be seeing the 531 to make a fair comparison.”

The waiter came over and asked us if we were ready to order. In fact we had been so engrossed that we had not even looked at the menu. We temporised by ordering two beers and then listened to the day’s specials. Rikky recommended the fish Lapu Lapu for me and chose a Curacha for himself, probably, I suspected later, just to show me the incredible creature, half crab, half lobster. We soon returned to the matter in hand.

“Well Peter, what would you like to do? My office is based in our airline building here in Makati because the terminal is so crowded that there is no suitable accommodation there. We keep our flight dispatch operation at the airport. All our flight turboprop checks have to be done on real aircraft but of course we will have to change all that and use simulators for the new aircraft.”

“Why don’t I come to your office to-morrow, as early as you like, and we can start work. In due course I will need to see your dispatch office and witness some en-route flying and training.”

We agreed 8.30. Our food arrived and Rikky started telling me about the Philippines, the airlines and in particular Mindanao Airlines. His airline was now in head on competition with Philippine Airlines not only on the internal services but also to Hong Kong and Taipei. Flying into the big airports like Davao and Mactan presented no real problems for Mindanao Airlines though the airports did not have such good landing aids as Manila. However if the weather was really bad they had to divert to one of these three airports. 

The airline’s chief problem was in serving the smaller airfields which had no proper approach aids and no approach lighting. Because of the mountainous terrain the pilots had to be particularly careful when making visual approaches to some of these fields. In fact the pilots were very good and the accident rate was extremely low. However the schedules were frequently disrupted enormously because of poor weather preventing the aircraft landing, particularly during the monsoon seasons. Because the passengers had no real alternative they put up with the service, but they didn’t like it.

“New aircraft aren’t going to help you when the weather’s bad, are they Rikky?”

“No, except the passengers will be much more comfortable in the air and generally we only take-off when the weather is forecast to be good.”

“Well as you know it’s having a nice low approach speed that is absolutely crucial when landing, but your new aircraft are bound to fly faster than your turboprops on the approach. The bottom line is that the faster the aircraft in the circuit, the greater the visibility required for landing, so you may have a problem in this area.”

“You’ve forgotten one thing, Peter. Our aircraft are now equipped with the Global Positioning System and the Galileo European Satellite system so that when the GPS Wide Area Augmentation System for our area comes on line in the next two years we should be able to construct an approach plate for every airport. It should revolutionise our flying and make it so much safer. Hopefully the GESS equivalent to the WAAS will not be far behind.”

“Yes, Rikky you’re quite right. It should make a difference though your new aircraft will still be limited by the short airfields and I understand that in some airfields the terrain makes visual approaches and take-offs absolutely essential.”

We finished our meal and Rikky went home. I went up to my room to find that John Southern wanted me to call him. It was just after lunch his time and I got through straightaway.

“Got your message, John. Do you happen to know if the car met Mandy alright?”

“Yes that went off fine. The flight was on time. I did check that. Apparently the stupid girl went in to the office later on to work.” I didn’t mind him calling Mandy a stupid girl, since he said it with great kindness and understanding. “She called me to say hello and thank you. How did you get on?”

“Well you’ll be amazed to hear that I’ve already been approached by the marketing people of both manufacturers and I’ve met with Robles who seems to have his own agenda, though I don’t know what it is yet. I’ve spoken with the chief engineer over the phone and am seeing him to-morrow and I’ve just finished dinner with the chief pilot who seems very sensible. So everything seems to be on track though I wonder what European are going to do about having a real demonstration. You know John their demonstration was very sketchy. In my words, just a flag waving operation in front of the heavy breathers. It must infuriate European to know that the airline has had some pilots trained on the 886 and are going to evaluate the aircraft properly on their routes.”

“Yes you’ve got a point there. We will just have to await developments. Are you going to fly in the 886?”

“Yes, I’m going on the route proving as you suggested, next week. For a couple of days anyway. But remember John if I don’t see the European aircraft flying out here in the monsoon then all I can comment on is the Flight Manual numbers which won’t mean very much.”

“Fine by me. How long do you think it will take you out there?”

“Well I reckon it’s going to be about three weeks now but I can’t really judge at this stage. Mandy isn’t going to be too pleased.”

“Never mind it’s all in a good cause and you can tell her it’ll help to pay for her next three week holiday.” 

“I think you’ve either forgotten my weekly price to you John, or you must think we stay in the most expensive hotels in the world. If I’m here for four weeks my fee will pay for several very expensive three week holidays.”

“No comment. See you soon and keep in touch.”

I called Mandy who was in her office for a change and told her what I had been doing 
“I am not pleased, Peter. You clearly forgot my instructions telling you not to get involved.”

“My darling. I kept on saying no and they wouldn’t take no for an answer. In fact though they don’t know it, the whole thing might work against them since I might suggest to John that neither aircraft would be safe. I’m not going to compare their economics.”

“Alright I may forgive you one day. But not to-night. It’s lonely by myself. I’ve got used to having someone with me. I may need to get a locum. You will understand, won’t you?”

“Perfectly, but don’t use my house for your paramours and move all your stuff out before I get home.”

“Now, now I was only joking.”

“It’s not a joking matter.”

“May I quote you?”

I decided we were getting into deep water. I wasn’t sure what Mandy might be thinking about but I didn’t want to take any chances.

“Well look after yourself my love and I’ll call you again soon.”

“And you my love. Bye.”

I lay on the bed and considered my day’s work. My task hadn’t really started but it was clear that I was going to be pressurised the whole time by the marketing people. There was no-one I could chat with to exchange ideas since everybody had their own viewpoint. I just didn’t want to know which person preferred which aircraft. In due course I would make my own mind up on the safety of the operation. It all felt very uncomfortable and I wondered what would happen next.

CHAPTER 2

I woke at 6.30 again and went for my swim. The humidity felt like 105% and the weather was overcast thought it wasn’t actually raining. Back in my room I did some mail on my PC. The phone rang. I looked at my watch, it was 7.40, rather early for phone calls.

“Mr. Talbert it’s RR here. Forgive me calling so early but I expect you’ll be going out soon and I wanted to catch you. I’ve got to come up to the hotel to-night to meet our two pilots who are bringing in the 886 from Seattle. Could I give you those manuals that we discussed then, and maybe have a quick drink before the pilots arrive?”

I wondered if she ever slept.

“OK Ms. Robinson. I’ll meet you in the lobby at 6 o’clock. I expect I shall be wearing a white shirt and blue trousers, like everybody else.” 

I rang off quickly and went down for breakfast inside the coffee shop. As I was being led to my table I saw a face I had not see for well over a year, Jim Akers, the FT air correspondent. He was sitting by himself in the middle of the room and looked as surprised as I was. The hostess backtracked and cleared my side of Jim’s table as I sat down.

“What on earth are you doing here, Jim? I thought you’d be getting ready for the Paris air show.”

“Well I should be. But I had to go to Tokyo and decided to come back through here, write an article on the Philippines and possibly give a preliminary story on Mindanao Airlines who apparently are in the market to replace their turboprops with jet aircraft, if I could get a few leads. European are telling me they’ve got the whole thing wrapped up with their 531. What are you doing here, for that matter? There hasn’t been an accident has there that I’ve missed?”

I first met Jim when I was writing articles about the new electronics on the modern airliner’s flight deck and he had commissioned me to write one or two pieces for his paper. Recently, because I had got involved in investigating accidents on behalf of insurance companies or airlines, he now associated me with trouble.

“Not that I know of, you can relax Jim. In fact John Southern has asked me to come out here to ensure there won’t be any accidents.” I explained John’s request. “I’ve haven’t really started work yet. I’m sure these competitions make good copy but I must say I don’t like being involved.”

“You’re not are you?” I couldn’t help seeing his eyes light up. “What am I missing?”

“You’re not missing anything as far as I’m concerned. My difficulty is that John not only wants me to check Mindanao’s total operation but he wants me to give an opinion on which is the better airplane, which I may or may not be able to do. Unless the European Aerospace aircraft comes here again it may be quite difficult to compare anything except the Flight Manual Performance.” 

“I don’t quite follow that. Has the European Aerospace aircraft been here? Which model is it?” Jim looked like a bloodhound who has got a good scent. “Is the Independant aircraft coming here then? Which model? What for? A demo?”

“You obviously need briefing, Jim. It’s just as well I’m not secretive and/or greedy. The European Aerospace 531 has been in apparently and done a whistle stop tour which pleased everyone except the pilots and the maintenance engineers who weren’t allowed to fly or assess the aircraft properly. Independant aircraft are trying to sell the 886 and it’s coming here to-day to start carrying fare paying passengers next week. It’s a protracted demo to show how the aircraft performs in real airline conditions. One of the problems with the 531 demonstration was that it was done before the monsoon started.” 

I gave Jim some of the extra details he would need, like the Independant aircraft being in the Mindanao colours on the Philippine register, the crewing arrangements etc. Jim got his notebook out and started writing furiously. 

“Well it’s great seeing you again. How long are you going to be out here?”

“About two or three weeks if I’m lucky. It really depends on whether the airline is going to ask European Aerospace to come back and do what the 886 is doing. I’m not sure what happens if the 886 doesn’t do very well. When do you leave?”

“I came in last night and I’ll leave to-morrow night. I’m seeing the President of PAL to-day and the Minister of Transport this afternoon. I’m seeing Alan Robles to-morrow and I’ll probably visit the embassy. I have to say Peter, that seeing you is a real bonus in reporting the story.”

“Well don’t quote me or it’s the last time I’ll help you. I suppose you’ll write the article on the plane on the way back to London?”

“Wish I could. I’ve got to get it away to-morrow afternoon in time for the Friday paper. I’ll try logging onto our office direct if I can, rather than using email.” He did a rapid change of conversation, getting into deep water. “How’s your love life? What happened to that beautiful Australian girl who put you onto the cause of the Heathrow accident?”

“I don’t follow your train of thought, Jim. Nothing happened to that Australian girl. If you remember she wasn’t called as a witness. Mike Mansell of CrossLink Insurance emigrated to Australia and they are now very happily married, thank you. Mandy and I have just spent three very enjoyable weeks on holiday in Australia and we saw them out there.”

“I’m sorry Peter. I didn’t mean to be nosey.” He could sense he had overstepped the mark slightly. “I must say your remarks about Mindanao are very helpful. How about writing something for us when you come home or earlier if it seems sensible?”

“I’d be delighted to give you something after I’ve finished with Hull Claims. I’ll give you a call if I think there’s a window of opportunity. Now, if you’ll excuse me I must go.”

“Well let me pay for breakfast. What are you doing this evening? Shall we find somewhere to eat?”

“Not to-night I’m afraid. I’ve got another appointment. How about breakfast at the same time to-morrow?”

The doorman got me a cab and I noticed that he copied the cab’s number into the book. He must have been one of the old guard; I checked with the front desk and they said it was no longer necessary to keep a record of the cab numbers. I wondered if another reason was that there were now so many hotels and cabs it just was not possible to keep a sensible record. 

The sun was trying to burn off the cloud as I arrived at the airline. Rikky was already in his office hard at work. The regulation drinks appeared and I took coffee and water.

“Well what exactly do you need from me, Peter?”

“I need to look at your training facilities, chat to your staff and see your systems.”

“That’s easy. For the Boeing 737 we get them trained initially by Flight Safety in Singapore and then we keep sending them back to Singapore for the six monthly checks. It’s all simulator work there of course, but the simulators are superb, fully approved and the motion is so good it’s difficult to tell you’re not flying. My training captain and myself carry out six monthly route checks ‘calibrating’ all the pilots so we can watch how they actually perform, but they still have to go to Singapore for the emergency checks. All the records, here and at Singapore, are kept by my chief training man downstairs. 
“Unfortunately, for the turboprops we have to use real aircraft for all the checks and the initial training. As we don’t have a lot of turboprops left, the checking is a significant usage of the turboprop flying. The turboprop ground training is done in the classrooms here on the second floor and the flying is done at Mactan. There’s a 9,000 ft. runway there with 1,000 ft. stopways at each end so even the worst pilot can’t get into too much trouble.” He could see I was going to interrupt him. “Apart from the engine failure case, of course, and there’s no solution for that really except making sure that each pilot can deal adequately with the engine failure emergency drill. The rudder forces are very high on these old turboprops. Our training pilots have to make certain that a new pilot can keep the aircraft under strict control and doesn’t let the speed drop. It’s so much simpler with the jets on one engine, their powered controls make the rudder forces much lighter and the performance generally speaking is better.” 

“That sounds fine. Well, what I’d better do is to see your chief ground instructor …”

“…Alberto Ramires, Bert. He knows about you in principle. Let me tell him you’re here and then you can go down and see him. How long will you need?”

“Well I should be finished downstairs by the end of the day. To-morrow and Friday I shall be in Mactan looking at your engineering base. I can’t go straight on to the turboprop flying because of the 886. By the way how are you handling Monday?”

“Well I’m seeing the two Independant Captains to-morrow morning with my three pilots who have been training with Independant and we are going to plan the route proving with our sales and traffic people. We’ve got to make sure that there’s enough fuel at the critical airfields and also the means to transfer the fuel from the storage containers into the aircraft, which is quite a problem because we can’t refuel the 886 over the wing. As you would expect, at most of the turbojet places we’ve got pressure refuelling equipment positioned but it’s proving very difficult at the critical turboprop airfields because all the equipment has to go by ship. As you’ll appreciate, refuelling is particularly important for this evaluation for two reasons. Firstly, we want to make certain during route proving that the aircraft is at maximum landing weight and take-off weight for each airfield. We can’t do this without using fuel. You know that’s where the 531 demonstration went wrong; the aircraft couldn’t be refuelled and they took advantage of it in my opinion. The aircraft was far too light at the critical airfields. 

“The other reason why we need fuel at the critical airfields is that during the passenger carrying operations we shall lose payload if the aircraft has to carry fuel for several stops.”

“Where you haven’t managed to get pressure refuelling to a critical airfield, can’t you manage for the next few weeks and just live with the loss of payload? If you buy the airplane you can position the fuel and the pressure refuelling equipment.” 

“Yes, you’re quite right. We can certainly load up the aircraft at Baguio, for example, because the equipment is there already for the 737s. For other airfields like Neuva Tagatay we can reach the place by road with the fuel and the refuelling gear. It’s the island strips like Basco in the Batanes where we can’t do anything in the short term. I must think about it and choose the routes for the 886 where we can refuel at most places.”

I looked at Rikky. 

“Would you do me a favour? When you know the schedule for the route proving would you let me have a copy of the programme? I want to have some idea of the limiting weights for the 886 at your critical airfields and it is going to take me some time to calculate the numbers by hand. Could you also let me know where you plan to refuel.”

“Yes. We will have decided what we are going to do by Friday night so I'll be able to send the schedule to you at the hotel either that evening or the following morning.”

 “Thanks a lot. By the way your dispatchers are going to need quite a bit of training. They won’t be used to these new problems.”

“You are absolutely right. It's a significant issue. We are planning to train them here next week with the help of the Independant performance engineers but for the route proving the Independant pilots themselves can dispatch the aircraft.”

“How long are you going to spend route proving?”

“Probably four days and then start substituting the aircraft on our normal routes as soon as we can. We’re being helped by the Independant marketing performance engineers and the plan will be finalised by the end of this week.”

“Rikky can you help me. I need details of all your airfields and also a set of topographical maps.”

“What do you want? Jeppesons or the charts that our Department of Transport produce?”

“Both really. Jeppesons doesn't give enough details on runway gradient on some of your unimproved airfields. Can I have a copy of your Operations Manual as well?”

“No problem. I'll get our airport flight operations dispatch department to drop them off at your hotel this evening. Anything else?”

“How do you manage to determine your limiting take-off weight if the critical factor is the terrain which the aircraft has to clear in the event of an engine failure?”

“We don't have many of those and we keep the details with our head dispatcher who works at Manila airport.”

“Could I have a chat with him sometime? Perhaps later on next week after the route proving?”

“Fine. His name is Carlos Martinez. I'll introduce you to him on Monday. He'll be on the route proving.”

“By the way Rikky, where do I report on Monday?”

“I’ll get your tickets dropped off at the hotel over the week-end and we can meet at the domestic airport on Monday. We’re going to start at that place I mentioned already, Baguio.” He could see me looking puzzled. “It’s a good place to start. It is very important as it’s our summer capital. The airfield is over 4,000 ft. high and the airfield is 5,500 ft. long. It’s about 110 nautical miles north of here.”

“Is there an engine failure climb out problem there?” 

“Not taking off to the east. The ground drops away. Luckily there’s never a strong westerly wind because of the mountains.”

“That’s lucky, it certainly does sound a good place to start. By the way I’d like to see some turboprop training flights and also fly into some of the more critical airfields. I may get a better idea of what I need as a result of the route proving.”

Rikky’s secretary came in and gave him a note which he read, frowned and then looked up.

“Peter, the Chairman of the airline wants to see you.” He could see I looked surprised. “His name is Arvin Agati.”

“Where’s his office, Rikky?”

“On the same floor as Robles. He wants to see you now.”

I decided that there was no point in making any comment to Rikky but it didn’t sound like good news. 

“Peter my secretary will take you to Agati’s office and then, when you’ve finished, come back here and she’ll take you to Ramires on the second floor. See you Monday on the route proving.”

His secretary rang Agati’s office, told the person at the other end that  I was coming up and then took me out to the elevator, checking I knew to go to the 12th floor.

I was met by a very efficient looking lady who clearly had everything under control. She sat me down, asked what I wanted to drink and produced the requested glass of water almost instantaneously. After about 15 minutes Robles came out, nodded to me and there was a discreet buzzing noice. The secretary picked up the phone, put it down and then showed me into Agati’s office. The room was nothing short of palatial with very thick carpets on a polished wooden floor. The view was even better than from Robles’s office. 

Arvin Agati was about 5ft. 10in., definitely overweight and wearing what looked like a very expensive lightweight blue suit, white shirt and pinkish tie which I felt did not quite match the rest of his outfit. He got up and came over to greet me.
“Mr. Talbert, this is a real pleasure. I’ve read so much about you.” He could see I looked surprised. “That terrible accident at London Airport to the Royal World Airlines super jumbo; you did a really amazing job finding out what was wrong. I lost some on money on that accident; I bet someone it was due to the hijackers.”

“Well Mr. Agati you were right in a way. It might not have happened if the crew hadn’t been under such enormous pressure.”

“If you say so, but I don’t feel I can ask for my money back.” He smiled. “And the disappearance of that aircraft flying to Bermuda with all those priceless paintings. You sorted that out as well.”
He obviously wanted to chat about the London accident and the Bermuda Triangle. The conversation went on for quite a bit and I was beginning to feel embarrassed. The meeting was definitely not going as I expected, not that I had known exactly what to expect.

“Have you been to the Philippines before?” I shook my head. “Obviously we think it is a marvellous country and ideal for tourism. Beaches, rice terraces at Baguio, the Batanes Islands just waiting to be developed, scenic volcanoes, wonderful fruit and vegetables, and islands as far as the eye can see. You will really enjoy your stay.”

“I’m looking forward to it but I’m not sure there’s going to be much time for sightseeing.”

“You must. It’s a wonderful opportunity. Are you married?” I half nodded, it didn’t feel the right the time to explain my marital situation. “Bring your wife out and stay at our lovely hotels. And of course we are going to buy these new aircraft to take advantage of all the tourist development the Government is doing. We need to be able to take our passengers into the short airfields where the new hotels are being built; they won’t want to go by ferry and coach.” He paused. “Have you looked at the new aircraft yet?”
I was just beginning to realise why Mr. Agati was Chairman of Mindanao Airlines. 

“Not yet. As I’m sure you know I’m out here to check your airlines operating and maintenance procedures. I’m not in a position to recommend choices.”

“But the insurance company would like an opinion?”

“Possibly, but there’s a lot more to choosing an aircraft than how it flies. Finance is very important and I can’t comment on that.”

Agati nodded in agreement.

“I flew in the 531 and it was a wonderful experience. My people tell me that its performance is better than the 886.” 
“Mr. Agati, I just don’t know yet.” I decided not to elaborate and start digging myself into a hole.

“Well come, and see me before you go home. I would like to discuss your recommendations. The correct decision is so important to us.”

It was clearly time to leave. We shook hands, very enthusiastically on Agati’s part, and as I walked out I couldn’t decide if Agati was giving me a message. He was a very smooth operator. All I knew was that my forebodings of the situation where the two manufacturers were competing for the contract were coming to pass. I went back to Rikky’s office and the secretary called Ramires. I went back to the elevator and he met me as I came out at his floor. He was quite short and slightly overweight. He was wearing the regulation white shirt and blue trousers which all the airline people seemed to wear. We went into his office.

“I’ve only got a small staff here, three instructors. When we buy the new aircraft I suppose we’ll sell some of the turboprops so the training requirement will become even less. I’m going to investigate if we could train our turboprop pilots in the States. It might make more sense as the aircraft numbers decline. Still at the moment we don’t have a problem. Our classrooms are quite well equipped and we teach the pilots all about the airframe systems and the engines so that they can pass the technical examination and get their licences. By the way, in addition to making sure we meet the turboprop training requirements and the six monthly checks for all the aircraft, I’m also responsible for maintaining all the training records which are done outside the airline by Flight Safety, Boeing, or wherever so we know whose due for refresher training and for the six monthly checks.”

“Do you ever go to Flight Safety and see what they do?”

“Oh yes. I try to go once a year just to make sure they’re not cutting the corners on our people. Actually I’m not really too worried about them because they are checked by FAA regularly as well as by the Singapore DOT so they can’t ever relax.”

 Bert, as he was inevitably called, showed me round the second floor and the various classrooms. There were students there and we agreed I would come back in the afternoon to listen in to some of the classes. I left him and took a cab back to the hotel to meet Roberts for lunch. When I collected my key there was a note saying that Roberts was already in the hotel, sitting in the lobby bar. I went over to the bar and I could see a tough looking man, about 6ft tall, thin black moustache and black hair, sitting on a tall bar stool. He came over and we introduced ourselves. His grip as we shook hands was very strong. His accent was definitely American but it might have been from anywhere in the USA as far as I was concerned. I ordered a diet coke from the barman and we sat down in a corner of the dark bar.

“Well how are things going Peter? Have they tried to nobble you yet?”

I looked at him. He was significantly older than I was, perhaps just turning fifty years of age. He was inspecting me in return.

“I’m not sure how to reply to that, Frank. I have been approached by the marketing teams of both Independant and European and they have agreed to provide me with the performance manuals I will require if I have any time to make a comparison. However I’m still running equally on both legs, if I understand your horse racing allusion, so presumably if they have tried to nobble me they’ve failed.”

“That’s a great way of not answering my question. Have you ever been right in the middle of a marketing battle before?” I shook my head. “Well the people to look out for are the agents of the manufacturers who live in the country, they’re always very determined to win and can be unscrupulous if they think it will help. The theory is that the manufacturer agrees with the agent the commission percentage as a fraction of the total contract price and has no idea how the agent spends the commission promoting the sale, which of course is absolute nonsense. The company and the agent inevitably spend hours and hours deciding who are the decision makers, whether they can influenced, and if so how much special commission will be required. 

“Let me give you some advice Peter, be very very careful in everything you do and say. This place is no different from a lot of other places in the world, the rich are very rich and the poor are very poor. The rich don’t get rich by being mister nice guys, they do it by wheeling and dealing and sometimes worse. By the way how did you get on with the Chairman?”

“Frank, how did you know I’d been to see him? Are there no secrets in this world?”

“I’m afraid not and you didn’t answer the question.”

“Oh, we just chatted. He knew about my involvement with the Royal World Airlines accident at Heathrow and also about the aircraft lost flying to Bermuda.”

“Must be nice to be famous.” He looked at me. “But I don’t believe he didn’t discuss the 531 and the 886.”

I grinned.

“Well he did explain why you needed a new jet to promote tourism.”

“What did he say about the 531?”

“Are you a clairvoyant?”

“Well he did fly in it and he seemed over the moon with it.”

“Yes, he did say that he liked it and that he had been told that the 531 had a better take-off performance. Oh, he suggested I went back to see him with my recommendations though I had told him earlier I wouldn’t be making any.”
“I’d like to be listening in to that meeting, Peter. Just remember that when a huge opportunity comes along to make some money without working, like getting some commission for the sale of new airplanes, all the usual suspects are trying to get in on the act and any interference by you will be most unwelcome.”

“You make the whole thing sound rather unpleasant Frank.”

“Well OK, maybe I’m exaggerating a bit but only because in the case of a sale to an airline, it’s much harder for the guys on the outside to get a piece of the action. In our case here, the marketing teams will obviously try to get all the decision makers on their side, relying of course on help from their agents. Most of the decision makers will be in the airline but DOT will be involved because the operation has to be approved and so will the Department of Finance because the Government controls large purchases of foreign equipment. The agents will be looking for anyone who is influential and who they can influence. And maybe there’s an odd ball like you, coming in from left field, who has to be dealt with, one way or another.” He smiled, not unpleasantly, but clearly with years of experience behind him. “If you’ve finished your drink let’s grab a sandwich in the coffee shop.”

The coffee shop was getting quite full but we did not have to wait and were seated straightaway. I ordered soup and a fish sandwich of a type I did not recognise and some iced tea, Frank chose a club sandwich and a San Miguel Beer. I decided we needed a change of subject.

“Frank how come you, an expatriate, are chief engineer of a Philippine Airline? Isn’t that rather unusual?”

“Well Peter, it’s not quite as simple as that. You see my father spent three tours in the embassy here while I was growing up and on his third visit, when I had just come out of college with a degree in airlcraft engineering, I married a daughter of an influential senior member of the government, who was also a member of one of the ruling families in the country here. We travelled the world after we got married while I worked for American Airlines, then United and recently for Haeco in Hong Kong. But we kept visiting here and when this job came up five years ago I was told I would get it if I applied. We talked it over and decided there were worse places in the world and we’ve been very happy here as the airline has steadily grown and become more influential. This decision to buy jet aircraft to operate in the interior on some of the more challenging airfields is an important one and, if we get it wrong, it could bankrupt the company.”

“In that case Frank you really have two problem. First of all you need to be convinced that the favoured aircraft can actually do the job. It may be that, taking into account the monsoon weather, it would be sensible to stay with the turboprops. It could be that only one aircraft can do the job in which case the decision is a no brainer. If both aircraft can operate safely into the short strips then you must choose the better aircraft.”

“Right. And that’s why I’m so sensitive on the ‘undue influence’ aspect of the deal. I’ve only known you for fifteen minutes or so but I know something of your reputation and I feel sure they’re not going to be able to get you to say something you don’t believe is true. But believe me they will try, Peter, in every way they can. If money won’t work they’ll try and think of something else. That’s the way business is done all over the world but some countries are better at hiding the fact than others. So look out, my friend. Don’t accept any unexpected gifts and beware of nice friendly looking girls. There’s no such thing as a free ride.” 

I knew Mandy was always right but I hadn’t expected to hear her words used quite so quickly and dramatically sitting in a coffee shop in Manila. 

“Frank I came here to look at your operation.”

“And that’s just what you’re going to do, my friend. I’ve booked us on our 7.30 flight to Mactan to-morrow. I thought I could show you round our facilities and the way we operate and then on Friday I’d leave you at the mercy of our Chief Inspector and his team. At the moment you’re booked on the 15.45 Friday flight back to Manila. My secretary has booked you into a convenient beach club to-morrow night on Mactan Island itself. It may be a bit noisy because of the aircraft but the drive is short and you don’t want to be staying in Cebu, do you?”

Faced with such a pressing recommendation for visiting Cebu I decided to let the reservation stand. In my experience beach clubs were not all bad.

“Are those arrangements OK, Peter.” I nodded. “You know the 886 comes in to-day and we’ve got to paint it in our colours and bring it onto our register before Monday. The Independant people are providing the supervising engineers and inspectors but I’ve got to provide the labour to actually do the work for the whole of the demonstration lease so it’s going to take quite a bit of organising.”

“Are you going on the flights, Frank?”

“Not on your life. My life insurance isn’t big enough for that sort of thing and anyway I’m not an expert on flight operations. I leave that to the likes of you and those who are.”

“Did you go on the 531 demonstration?”

“No I didn’t for the same reason. I’m chicken. Flights have to be planned carefully and not rushed at. That’s the way accidents happen.”

“From what I’ve heard Frank, the 531 demonstration flights were planned very carefully indeed, to the maximum marketing advantage. No risks, plenty of entertainment and a lot of decision makers.”

Frank looked at me.

“Maybe you do know what you’re doing, Peter. In which case be doubly careful that the marketing guys don’t spot you as a key man or your life will be hell, if not under threat. They will want to know which side you are on. They can’t conceive that there could be people who will just judge things on their merits.” He grinned. “You asked me if I flew on the demonstration. Did you know that Rikky and I were at the bottom of the invitation list for the 531 demonstration? We came after much more junior people but who were well connected into the high social and government circles!”

 “I thought you were well connected Frank, through your wife.”

“It’s true we still see a few people socially who are in government circles but luckily no-one in finance or DOT.”

“Frank, I have some worries in the flight operations area. You know the height of the terrain close to the airfields has to be known very accurately if the aircraft has to follow an optimum flight path while climbing out in the event of an engine failure. Do you think all the terrain will have been surveyed?”

“Probably not but of course with GPS the job has become a lot simpler.”

“It still takes surveying Frank if the actual maximum payload is to be determined accurately. Satellite positioning is good for determining position but not very good for quick accurate height determination.”

“I know Peter but safety is all a matter of probability so don’t worry too much. Nothing will go wrong during route proving. We've got the firm's pilots for a start. We can survey the ground properly if we do buy new aircraft.”

I wasn’t convinced that the airline wouldn’t have to do something for route proving but I certainly wasn’t going to discuss that over lunch, particularly as I didn’t know exactly what was being planned and I hadn’t looked at the critical airfields yet. Frank had clearly said all he wanted to say on technical and business matters and he started telling me a bit about the Philippines and where to go. I made some notes during the rest of our lunch and we agreed to meet at 7.15 in the morning. The same doorman recorded my cab number and I was on my way back to the airline building, this time with rain sheeting down.

 The afternoon was straightforward. I sat in the back of the classrooms and watched the instructors perform and gauged the reactions of the students. The atmosphere seemed good and the standard of instruction, as well as the technical content of the lectures, were high. There were various breaks between lectures during the afternoon and I was able to speak to both the students and the lecturers. Their morale seemed high and in my judgement it was likely that if a pilot passed the technical examination on the aircraft, then that pilot would have the necessary knowledge to fly the aircraft in normal and emergency conditions. Before going back to the hotel I went to see Ramires and told him that as far as I could see in the very short sample I had had, the training was excellent. He seemed pleased and he saw me out of the building where I managed to get a cab without getting too wet.

It was 5.30 and I had a quick shower before going down to the lobby to wait for Ms. Robinson. I looked around but could not decide if she was there. I went to the news stand to get the FT and sat down. A woman on the far side of the lobby area was talking to a couple in airline uniform, a man and a woman; she detached herself from the discussion and came over to me. I got up.

“Mr. Talbert. I’m Rosemary Robinson, RR for short. I’m so glad to meet you.”

Ms. Robinson was quite tall, 5 ft. 9 ins, nearly as tall as I was. She was slim, no obvious figure, bespectacled and probably 45 years of age. She was wearing a nondescript light weight trouser suit and looked very efficient.

“Shall we sit here or would you prefer the bar, Ms. Robinson?”

“Why don’t we start here and then maybe have a drink if we feel like it.” We sat down. “Here are the books Mr. Talbert. The first one is an extract of the Flight Manual with all the take-off and landing performance including the climb out gradients on one engine. Of course you couldn’t plan a flight with just that data since all that does, as you know, is to ensure that the aircraft is safe should an engine fail during landing or taking off.

“So we do what most manufacturers do, we have another book which gives the all engines climb and cruise performance of the aircraft, so that the user, pilot, dispatcher or airline planner, can work out the maximum permitted take-off weight, the maximum permitted landing weight, the fuel required for the flight and the available payload. OK? Here’s the 886 performance manual as we call it. However, we give you another option.” She opened the front of the book. “There is a DVD in this pocket with the aircraft’s performance and a quick planning program. If you run the program you can enter all the details for the trip and find the maximum take-off weight, fuel required, optimum altitude and all the details required for the flight.”
I took the book from her and flicked through the pages. It was a weighty tome, loose leaf pages and most of the pages were folded because the data was so extensive. It was a very professional publication and the DVD was a real bonus.

“Thanks very much. I guess that’s probably all I require.”

“Possibly, but as I mentioned to you, I’d like you to have this other book which is a full network study for Mindanao Airlines showing the financial benefit that would accrue to the airline by operating the 886. It has a chapter devoted to assumptions. The cost of money, the cost of the airplane, the daily utilisation, the cost of fuel and so on and so on. Using those assumptions the book computes the cost of operating the 886 and shows the income and profit with various passenger load factors. Our calculations show that the load factor need only be 50% for the 886 purchase to go into profit.”

“Well that’s very interesting. But you know full well that I’m only interested in advising Hull Claims on the suitability of the aircraft for operating into the strips. I am not able to judge the validity or applicability of the information in this second book, that’s for the airline.”

I wasn’t sure Ms. Robinson welcomed such a definite statement but, if she didn’t like it, she was professional enough not to show it. I guessed she’d been in the marketing game a long time and would never have been given this particular job unless she was very good indeed. 

“Mr. Talbert, let me introduce you to the pilots of the 886. They’re still in the lobby over there.”

We got up and went over to the two uniformed people I had spotted earlier, both wearing Captain’s uniform.

“Gordon, this is Peter Talbert, a consultant from Hull Claims Insurance.” She introduced me first to Gordon Duckworth who was clearly the more senior of the two pilots and the older. He was probably 55 years old, 6ft., grey hair and looked very distinguished in his uniform. “Peter, this is our other pilot, Pat Fleming.” 

We shook hands and her hand was very firm. She was probably the same age as myself or maybe a bit younger, 5ft. 6 ins., trim, brown hair and her uniform could not hide the fact that she had a good figure, if a little bit oversize for my taste. 
“Shall we have a drink or something in the bar?” I looked at them both.

“We’ve only just got back from Mactan and we were just going to freshen up. If you’re still around in 30 minutes or so I could use a drink. I can’t speak for Pat,” they both grinned, “and for sure she won’t let me.”

“I’m not sure about the 30 minutes Mr. Talbert but I shall need something when I’ve changed.”

They both left and I looked at Ms. Robinson.

“Look Mr. Talbert. I’ve got some phoning to do. I’ll see you later if you’re still in the bar.”

I retired to my room and looked at the marketing document on the 886. It was very well done but its value would depend crucially on the accuracy of the assumptions. The extract from the flight manual and the performance manual were excellent productions but I wondered how the aircraft would really shape up in a world of slippery runways, difficult approaches and uncertain terrain, let alone in the engine failure case. I went down to the bar wearing a jacket to keep warm and ordered a scotch and water. There was a complimentary Manila Times but how one was expected to read it in the gloom was beyond me.

“I should have brought my torch.” Pat Fleming had arrived wearing a black blouse and smart matching evening trousers. “May I join you.”

I got up and helped her to her chair. She wasn't like any other airline captain I knew but I was determined not to let that upset me. The waiter came over and she ordered a diet coke.

“You were quick.”

“Not really.” She looked at her watch. “Everybody else was slow. What brings you here, Mr. Talbert and why does RR want us to be nice to you?”

Clearly Ms. Robinson didn't introduce all her contacts to the flight crew.

“Hull Claims insurance wants me to check that Mindanao Airlines are doing all the right things regarding maintenance and flight operations. They currently insure Mindanao’s aircraft and they don’t want to increase their risk by taking on any new aircraft without checking on the airline’s operation. They’ve also asked me to give an opinion on the suitability of the 886 and 531 to actually operate safely from the critical airfields.”

She looked at me carefully, making sure she was not missing anything obvious.

“That's a tall order. I’m sure we'd be interested in hearing your views on that latter point before we start flying.” Her sarcasm was not particularly well hidden. “Have you ever flown an aircraft, Mr. Talbert?” 

“To answer your question, I used to have a pilot’s licence, Ms. Fleming. They want my views after the demonstration flying, after seeing how restricted both aircraft are by the short airfields, poor runway adhesion, wet surfaces and also the terrain, whether it affects the approaches and also whether there is a net flight path consideration. They also are interested if the wheel loading of the aircraft is going to damage the runway surface. Of course they will also want to know how the weather affects the performance stated in the Flight Manual and matters like that.” 

She was obviously a little surprised by the list of factors I had just enumerated but equally doubted whether I was in a position to have any worthwhile opinions on operating the 886 in the Philippines and I was not about to argue with her. Luckily Gordon Duckworth arrived at that moment so I did not have to expand on my flying and other experiences. He ordered a scotch and water and I took the opportunity to have a refill.

“Gordon, when did you leave Seattle?”

“Oh we took it easy. We night stopped Anchorage on Sunday and then we managed to get permission to refuel at Shemya Air Force Base in the Aleutians on the way to Tokyo Monday. We rested overnight there and spent Tuesday night in Hong Kong where we loaded up with some extra tyres. We arrived at Mactan at noon. We've got a day or two's rest from flying now but we've got a lot of planning to do before the route proving. It’s all very well for these guys to write the flight manuals but the real world can be very different.”

“Are you a test pilot with Independant, Gordon?”

“No. We have a support group which does the demonstration flying when there’s some to do and training when business is slack. It’s a wonderful job. We see all parts of the world and we are always being asked to fly into the difficult airfields which are often spectacular. Hills, ravines, short strips, you name it we’ve been there.” He looked at me. “What’s your background Peter. What are you doing here anyway?”

“I was telling Ms. Fleming, I’m out here doing some work for Hull Claims. They want me to check that Mindanao do all the things they should do to carry out a safe airline operation….”
Pat Fleming interrupted.

“and they want him to advise them whether our operation out here is safe.” 

“That’s nice.” Gordon looked at me more carefully. “How are you going to do that, Peter?”

“With difficulty, but hopefully with your co-operation.”

“That wasn’t much of an answer. Do you have any expertise in this sort of thing?”

“Well I was telling Ms. Fleming that I was a pilot with a UK charter company for about ten years until the doctors said I had a medical problem. However I graduated as an electronics engineer and I’ve been doing a lot of airline training on the human flight deck interface with modern systems.”

Pat had been staring at me as if my face had stirred her memory.

“Wait a moment, I’m sure I’ve seen your face before.” She frowned. “I’ve heard or read your name somewhere.”

“I…”

Pat interrupted again, perhaps it was her normal method of carrying out a conversation. 
“I know.” Her face cleared. “You were the guy who found out what happened to that aircraft that disappeared on it’s way to Bermuda from St. Antony? Everybody thought it had crashed in the Atlantic and you discovered it was actually in Colombia.”

“Crashed unfortunately, it was a great shame.”

Pat suddenly became less defensive.

“Hey, your job must be very interesting finding out about the true cause of accidents?”

“You know that’s not really my job. The professional accident investigators do that and do it very well. However, sometimes people come to me to look after their particular interests in an accident investigation and then I have to make sure the investigators have considered all the angles and, if possible, make sure my client doesn’t get blamed. If I find my client is to blame, so be it. I’m only interested in the truth. Anyway this time I’m not being asked after the event. Hull Claims are trying to make sure there isn’t going to be an accident.”

Pat was clearly racking her memory again. I wasn’t sure I wanted her to get to where she was going but there was no way I was going to stop her.

“Didn’t you have something to do with that accident at Heathrow when one of our 798s crashed in fog using the GPS for landing?”

“Yes, I was representing one of the insurance companies. It was a case of faulty maintenance.”

Gordon clearly remembered something about the case, not surprisingly since it was his firm that made the airplane.

“That was a super job you did. I remember now. You had to fly to Australia a couple of times to prove the case.” He smiled. “Perhaps we will let you fly with us after all.”

“I’m glad you said that, Gordon, as I’m one of your passengers on Monday.” I leant forward and lowered my voice slightly. “Have you looked at the route yet?”
“You have to be joking. Rikky has told us what he would like but the airfields mean nothing to us at the moment until we’ve looked at their length, height, terrain and possibly gradient.” 
Pat leant forward to listen but Rosemary Robinson arrived and the atmosphere suddenly became much more formal. Robinson realised what she’d done but she couldn’t suddenly go away. She sat next to me and ordered a glass of white wine.

“I’ve just met a friend of yours, Mr. Talbert. Jim Akers of the FT. He’s out here doing an article on the Philippines and the Mindanao procurement. He seems right up to speed.” I didn’t say anything. “But that’s not surprising since I gather you had breakfast together.”

I didn’t comment and she looked at us all.

“Have you eaten yet? Shall we go into the restaurant?” The two pilots went along with the suggestion but I made my excuses. I didn’t want to get too friendly with them, nice people though they seemed to be. They left and I went up to my room to get something to read. I went in the coffee shop and saw Jim just starting his meal.

“I thought you had a date this evening, Peter?”

“I did but it’s just finished. I suppose it’s too late to go out now?” He nodded. “I understand you’ve met one of the world’s most hard working marketing executives.”

“Oh you mean RR. Yes I have had that pleasure. As you might guess, I meet her at every air show when she briefs me on Independant’s latest airplane. She’s very good but hasn’t got much of a sense of humour. Still it was useful meeting her here. Has she convinced you the 886 is the best?”

“No, Jim, not even the better.” He grinned. “I’m going to look at the flight manuals and performance manuals when I get them both. So far I’ve only got the 886’s.” 

We ate our meal and discussed the world in general. We got up to leave.

“How did you get on with Philippine Airlines and the Minister?”

“Well the President of the airline was clearly worried about Mindanao. Didn’t like the competition. The Minister thought Mindanao’s idea to introduce jets was a good one and very supportive of the government’s tourist development schemes. He told me that he was looking forward to flying in the 886. Apparently he flew in the 531 and thought it was the greatest thing since sliced bread, judging by the way he spoke. He wondered why the 886 was here at all since the 531 was so good. However he did admit that the US Government felt the 886 should have its chance.”

“Jim, you’re seeing Robles to-morrow, do me a favour. If Robles shows a preference for either aircraft I’d be grateful if you’d let me know.”

“Well it would hardly be surprising if he didn’t favour the 886 just at the moment. The demonstration is going to cost the airline. They’ll never recover the extra costs from the passenger fares. It’s an investment for the future.”

“Possibly. Well I’m off early in the morning. Have a safe journey back to UK and I’ll contact you when I get home.”

We separated and I went to the desk to check for messages. The girl gave me a large box and also a very large envelope. There was also a message to call Spencer. I wondered if he knew I’d been hobnobbing with the competition. I realised I ought to call him as soon as possible but it was too late now. I opened the box in my room and found it was from Rikky containing a Jeppeson folder covering the Philippines and a large file with all the Philippine airfield charts. The large envelope contained the performance manual for the 531, a DVD marked 531 performance and a route study for the Mindanao network. I had a busy week-end’s work ahead of me relating the limiting landing and take-off weights with the manufacturers’ route studies. Hopefully Rikky would remember to send me the route proving schedule for the Monday in which case I could restrict my analysis to the airfields in the schedule, but it would still take a long time without a proper computer loaded with all the aircraft’s performance data.

I thought about my conversation with Frank Roberts and the advice he gave me. His  advice was probably very sound so I got out my computer and typed a letter to my bank warning them not to pay any money over £1,000 into my account without getting special authorisation from me. I emailed it as an attachment to my office, asking them to telephone the bank telling them the letter was on its way. I copied the letter to my reserve email address, went down to the business centre in the hotel, recovered the email, printed the letter and then went to the hotel desk and posted the letter to the bank.
***

 
It was just getting light at six o’clock and for a change it looked as if it was going to be a good day. Outside as I went for my swim it still felt quite warm. I didn’t bother with breakfast, crammed everything I needed into my flight bag and caught a cab to the airport. It was just after 7 o’clock when I got into the incredibly busy, but not particularly well air conditioned, domestic terminal. I saw Frank near the check in and he gave me my tickets and the boarding card for the flight. The aircraft was one of the older 737s but it seemed in good condition. The flight was completely full so it took a little time for the cabin crew to get everyone seated. However after that we wasted no time and 1hr. 10 min. after leaving the terminal we had stopped at Mactan, which was called Cebu, after the local town. 

Frank had his own office in a large maintenance hanger near the terminal. It was getting quite warm and I was glad of the air conditioning by the time we reached the hangar. Frank introduced me to his maintenance chief, José Cordete, and also his chief inspector, Ricardo Baccay, who said he would pick me up the following morning from my hotel. He organised some drinks for the two us.
“Before we start let me state my philosophy over maintenance. We are an airline and our job is to carry passengers and freight. Maintenance is a necessary evil. We sub contract all the heavy maintenance to HAECO in Hong Kong. We do the routine maintenance here but by using HAECO we don’t have to invest in the really expensive gear which is only needed for major overhauls and which therefore would not get used sufficiently intensively to justify their purchase.”

I liked Frank’s maintenance philosophy just I liked the airline’s way of doing crew training. It was always a good idea to sub-contract the non-productive work to the specialists and concentrate on what the airline was there for, flying passengers from A to B. Airlines which tried to do everything were normally inefficient and difficult to manage and most of the big airlines in the world now recognised the problem. For the rest of the day Frank took me round all his facilities which were fairly extensive and enabled the airline to deal with routine matters like tyre changes and avionics unserviceabilities. In the hangar I saw the 886 half painted, with maintenance being carried out. 

“How on earth did you manage that, Frank? It only came in yesterday afternoon?”

“Well as you know our colour scheme only covers part of the top of the aircraft. With the 886 we are using paints that are washable with the correct solvent and we are painting it at night at the far end of the hangar which we reserve for that work. We shall finish the job to-night.” 

“The tyres on the aircraft seem enormous.”

“You’re right. In order to be able to stop on our short airfields without going through the pavement, Independant have changed the design of the landing gear, wheels and brakes to permit much better wheel braking and of course the larger tyres spreads the load on the tarmac. Independant have also got NUBEC, the New Bristol Engine Company, who make the 606 engine which the 886 uses, to alter the engine to give more reverse thrust. I’m not sure that the aircraft performance can take credit for the extra reverse in the calculations, but in practice it will make landing in difficult conditions much safer.” 
“What about the 531? Did you have a chance to assess it? What modifications are European doing to enable safe operation for the short airfields?”

“I didn’t get a chance to look at the aircraft. It never came down here and into our hangar. I understand that the brakes have been improved but I don’t know what else they are going to do.”

“Now you’ve seen the 886, can’t you ask European to make similar changes on the 531, assuming that the 531 is chosen?”

“Maybe. The problem is that if the aircraft is chosen, they won’t bother to make the changes. The selection needs to be made conditional on making the changes but, to be frank, I can’t see that happening.”

We walked round the rest of the hangar. The place was very clean and seemed well organised. The stores area was extensive and altogether it seemed a lot better than many other more prestigious airlines I had visited. Frank got Baccay to drop me off at my hotel. It was at the end of Mactan Island and was a typical beach type of hotel with some separate huts for those that wanted them. I asked Baccay in for a drink but he excused himself and I was left to my own devices. I went to my hut, changed and went to the beach bar which was still quite crowded. I sat down on one of the few empty tables and ordered a San Miguel. A dark Filipino, about 45 years of age, wearing a very smart light coloured fawn suit came over and introduced himself.

“Mr. Talbert? My name is Bruno Gonzales, we spoke on the phone the other day. I heard you were here and as I was down in Cebu for business I couldn’t resist the chance of meeting you. May I join you?”

I was tempted to say no but decided to hear what he had to say. My beer arrived and Gonzales ordered the same. 

“Are you enjoying your stay in the Philippines, Mr. Talbert? Have you been here before?”

We chatted about inconsequential things and he asked me to join him for dinner in a restaurant in Cebu which I declined. It was difficult to shake him off and so I agreed to eat with him in the hotel restaurant. Surprisingly, even with the monsoon in full swing, the place was full of holiday makers but I suppose it didn’t matter too much if you were skin diving. We were shown to a reasonably quiet table and we ordered some more beer.

“Mr. Talbert what do you think of the 886?”

“I’ve only seen it on the ground, Mr. Gonzales.”

“But you’ve seen the manual and route study.”

“Mr. Gonzales, I have had no time to look at anything. But rest assured if I have time I shall be examining all the manuals in detail and I shall be completely impartial. Incidentally, is European going to bring the 531 back to operate with fare paying passengers in truly operational conditions to show it can do everything that its performance manual says it can, bearing in mind the visit of the 886?” 

“Why do you ask. Is Captain Carandang saying that we should?”

“No, Mr. Gonzales, Captain Carandang is not saying that. It just seems obvious to me that it would be very beneficial from a European Aerospace viewpoint if the aircraft matched whatever the 886 is doing. I know your aircraft has been here and apparently proved it could do everything required of it but some people might think that a quick lightweight tour is not the way to evaluate an aircraft which has to be operated in demanding conditions at maximum take-off and landing weights. Independant are biting the bullet and carrying out a fairly long and intensive demonstration carrying fare paying passengers. There might be a view that if European Aerospace doesn’t respond it could be that the 531 could lose by default.”

“I’m not arguing with you Mr. Talbert. I’m waiting to hear from European Aerospace to see what they are going to propose. However I think they feel that they have done all that is required already.” He paused and deliberately changed the subject. “What’s your background? Do you do a lot of this work?”

I remembered Frank Robert’s words and decided to be very careful.

“Mr. Gonzales the only thing I’m prepared to talk about is the Philippines. I’m not prepared to talk about aircraft any further.”

“But why not Mr. Talbert? That’s why you came out here.”

“I came out to look at the airline’s flight and maintenance operation. As an add on I shall comment on the performance of the 886 and the 531 if I have a chance to see them operate. I am not qualified to comment on the suitability of the aircraft for Mindanao and to be absolutely frank I do not wish to be pressurised by the marketing people and their agents. I am prepared to talk to the performance engineers of Independant and European Aerospace to help me understand the way the take-off and landing weights have been calculated for the critical airfields. Now if you don’t mind I suggest we change the conversation or I will go to another table.”

Gonzales was not too happy but realised he was not going to get me to talk any more on the subject. He started telling me about Cebu and the Visayan island in the central Philippines and in spite of myself I started listening to his story of Magellan and his untimely death on the very island where we were sitting. I had not realised that Magellan must have been as great an explorer as Columbus because, when he reached Cebu before he was killed, he had in fact already embraced the world having gone past the longitude of the Moluccas, which he had reached on his first trip, going the other way round. Even though he did not survive, thirty- one of his men did get home and their boat was the first one to circumnavigate the Earth. The infamous straits by Cape Horn will always preserve his name for mankind. 

As soon as I could, I made my excuses and went up to my room and called John Southern giving him a routine report.

“Peter, any news of the 531. Surely they’re not going to leave the field wide open for the 886?”

“They think they’ve done all they need to. I imagine I’m not too popular asking if they are coming back to do the job properly. Their agent tried to chat me up over dinner. I had to stop him because I didn’t trust him.” 
I told John the plan for the next few days and then I called Mandy, who was in the office, and for once was not with a client.

“How are you doing my love?”

“Missing you but working hard. How about you?”

“Missing you too and also working hard. I’m in Cebu at the moment.”

“By yourself? And is Cebu in the Philippines?”

“‘Yes’ to your first suspicious question and ‘of course it is’ to your second. I’m not off on a week-end yet. Anyway I’m working all this week-end as far as I can see. Any news at your end?”

We chatted for a bit but it was difficult to have a meaningful conversation at such a distance with each of us completely involved in our own problems.

“See you soon Peter. Be careful, my love.”

I put the phone down and went to bed and slept right through until it started to get light. In the morning I went for a swim in the sea after checking with reception that it was safe to do so remembering the possibility of sharks. I got back to my room to find the phone was ringing. Jeremy Spencer came on the line.

“Sorry to call you so early but I wanted to talk to you before your plans were finalised for the week-end. How would you like to go to Pagsanjan Falls to-morrow? If you haven’t been I think you’d find it quite interesting.”
 “Jeremy I’ve got a lot of work to do over the week-end. How long would it take?”

“If we drive and don’t go by coach I think we could do it in six hours door to door. The falls are on the far side of the Laguna lake.”

“I’m not sure yet. I tell you what. Let me see what time I get back to-night and how much work I can do. I’ll let you know by about 9 to-night. Is that too late?”

“No. That’ll be fine. Have a good day.”

I had half accepted his invitation because I felt a bit guilty having spent so long with the Independant people and I was going to be with them for at least a further two days during route proving. It probably would be quite an interesting trip anyway. On the other hand it was quite true that I did have a lot of work to do. I smiled to myself. I hadn’t even bothered to ask him how he found me. He wouldn’t have told me anyway. Come to think of, it was obvious, Gonzales would have told him.
Baccay arrived promptly and took me to his office in the hangar. He explained that maintenance was handled in three ways, work that needed to be done at the working airfields, routine maintenance in the Mactan hangar and heavy maintenance which was subcontracted out elsewhere, currently in Hong Kong, as Frank Roberts had explained. Baccay had a comprehensive system for all the aircraft, which gave complete visibility for all the necessary work that had to be carried out. He then showed me all the activities he supervised in the hangar with his staff of inspectors. It seemed to me that he had a good system and that all necessary work was identified and supervised. 

After Baccay had finished I went round the hangar with him and was impressed with the high standard of the work. It was obviously impossible to judge whether all the necessary inspections and work was being done adequately but as far as I could see there was not too much to worry about. After lunch we chatted about how he was going to handle the 886. We went into the hangar and the aircraft now had the complete paint scheme. Filipino mechanics were working on the aircraft but they were clearly being instructed and supervised by some of the Independant mechanics.

“How are you handling the inspection of the 886 to make sure it complies with your regulations, Ricardo?”

“Independant have brought their own inspectors so we are merely checking that they comply with our procedures. DOT are going to accept their signatures. Did Frank show you how we are handling the spares situation.” I shook my head. “Well, the aircraft came with the likely spares requirements and some extra wheels and tyres were shipped ahead. We’ve got a special spares store here and the aircraft will carry some spares and jacking equipment on all flights. We have pre-positioned some wheels and tyres in Manila. We’re fairly confident that the aircraft will be able to operate correctly from an engineering viewpoint. Obviously, if there are problems we shall have to judge whether they are fundamental to the aircraft operating on our routes.”

“Is the aircraft on your register yet?”

“Not yet. When all the paperwork is complete there is going to be a formal test flight on Sunday and the certificate of airworthiness will be issued. The type certificate should have been validated automatically by an agreement between our two countries.”

I noticed that the registration for the aircraft had been aptly chosen PIC- 886MA. Ricardo took me back to the airport to catch my flight.

“Well what do you think of our operation, Peter?”

“It looks fine. Obviously I shall be looking at what actually happens during routine airline operation but it all looks very professional to me.”

We shook hands and I was back in the Intercontinental by 17.30 and relaxing in my room. The message desk rang through, there was a large envelope for me which they were sending up. I put my robe on, found some pesos and took the envelope from the bell boy when he arrived. It was the route proving plan for the following week and after a quick glance I realised I would be a able to cross-check the limiting take-off and landing weights against the manufacturer’s route study but it was going to take time. However, I decided a quick trip with Jeremy would be alright provided I worked for the rest of the week-end. I realised I hadn’t eaten very much and that I would need something before I started work and went down to the coffee shop carrying the route proving itinerary with me.

I ordered a chef’s sandwich and a diet coke.

“May I join you.” I nodded, pushing my papers aside and Pat Fleming sat down opposite me. 

“You look as if you’re working.” She peeked at the paper momentarily. “It didn’t take you long to get hold of our programme,” she added.

“I didn’t know you were in the marketing department, Ms. Fleming, or is everybody at Independant taught how to read upside down?”

 “Why don’t we try Pat when there’s no-one listening, Peter, or even if there is?” She thought for a moment. “Everybody is in the marketing department when you work for a firm. But I’m sure that’s not what you meant.”

I looked at her. She was wearing a top which seem to accentuate her figure and confirmed my earlier impression that she was well endowed. Her skirt was of a conservative length, clearly chosen so as not to excite the casual observer. There was no doubt that her appearance had not deteriorated since I had seen her last. 

“I was admiring the way you were reading what I was reading, but upside down. I thought that skill was reserved for marketing people.”

“Oh that’s part of the selection process to be a demonstration pilot.” She grinned. “Do you think you could get me a glass of white wine. The waiter seems to be ignoring me.”

I decided that I had better be very careful and not come up with any flippant remarks or I could find myself in serious difficulties. The waiter came over as a result of my look and dealt with Pat’s order which had grown to a bacon, lettuce and tomato sandwich.

“Did you have a good visit to Mactan, Peter?”

“It was alright but not very exciting. The good news is that the airline seems fine from a maintenance viewpoint and your people were teaching the mechanics how to carry out routine maintenance and how to change the wheels. The tyres and brake pads seem huge by the way. The aircraft looks very good in Mindanao colours, PIC-886MA would you believe.”

“Yes, it’s an easy tail number to remember and you’re quite right about the tyres and brakes. The difference it makes to the braking is fantastic. Of course there is a weight penalty of about 250 lb. and the underneath part of the wing has had to be bulged slightly to accommodate the change so we’ve got a drag penalty as well but for this job the pay off is spectacular. We’re going to Mactan on Sunday for a flight check with the DOT to get our Certificate of Airworthiness and to check everything out before bringing the aircraft up for Monday morning.”

“So I believe. Where’s Gordon?”

“I’m not sure. Possibly training the cabin staff.”

There was no answer to that, especially with her very straight face, though I was beginning to wonder whether she was testing me a little to see how I would respond.

“You didn’t bring your own then?”

“No, you need indigenous staff for regular airline operations.”

“I see we’re going to Baguio on Monday. Does that cause any weight limitations?”

“I thought you’d know that by now.”

“Not yet. That’s to-night’s task.”

“That’s not a very lovely way to spend an evening.”

“Are you feeding me lines, Ms. Fleming? ‘I can’t think of anything else I’d rather do.’”

“That’s not very enterprising and I don’t believe you.” She looked at me carefully and considered for a moment. “Yes, Baguio does restrict our weights because of the altitude but we can carry our full payload providing we don’t have to go too far. Incidentally it looks quite tRikky from a climb out viewpoint. I think it’s alright as long as we take off to the east and choose our flight path carefully, turning left so that we can go down the slope towards the sea in case we have an engine failure.”

“Does DOT have the proper charts for each airfield? As I said I haven’t looked at the ones I’ve been given yet.”

“They’re not bad but of course they’re not for our aircraft so we’ve got to decide on the flight path for the 886 and we’re not sure how the survey has been carried out. We’re thinking that at some of the airports we’ll have to guess our critical weight for route proving and then do a very rough check on the airfields using GPS and relating our results with their surveyed points.”

“Sounds very sensible.”

Our food arrived and we started eating. I noticed a tall man of Anglo Saxon aspect, who I had not seen before, talking to Bruno Gonzales outside the coffee shop. It occurred to me that I was going to get very fed up with Gonzales before this operation was over. 

“Any other places of interest?”

“Yes but you’ll have to look at the list. Quite a few of the airfields are not on their current schedules but are now paved. Generally speaking we only have problems when the airfields are less than about 4,000 ft. long, and then especially if the airfield is high. We have to be very careful if we go into fields of less than 3,600 ft. Most of their airfields are quite low near the sea but there’s one I remember on the side of a Volcano which is over 2,000 ft. high and only 3,600 ft. long. We can go in there but it is right on the limit and we have to be very light. Luckily as long as one turns left straightaway after take-off there shouldn’t be a problem.” Pat paused. “Let’s change the subject. I’m fed up with talking about aircraft.”

I played for safety.

“What do you do in your spare time, Pat? Do you have a family?”

“No. There hasn’t been time to have a lasting relationship and to do this job. I’m not prepared to stop doing what I’m doing yet and when I get married I intend to have children and not leave them all the time.”

“Well it’s clearly difficult for a woman. You can’t leave it too long.”

“You’re right but there’s time, don’t you think?” She raised her eyebrows but I just smiled. I wasn’t in the business of giving compliments. “Is there a Mrs. Talbert?”

“Yes I believe there is though she thinks there isn’t.” I gave Pat a quick sketch of my problem with Diana. “Luckily my girl friend is a lawyer and I hope her firm will sort it out.”

“She can’t be too pleased with your overseas trips?”

“I think you’re right but she gets some nice holidays to make up.”

“She must be very understanding,” I looked at her and she grinned, “not, I am sure, there is anything to understand.”

“That’s what I tell her. You know Pat, I think it’s time for me to do some work.”

“I’m sorry. I didn’t mean to scare you away. Shall we talk about the weather?”

“Good subject. How’s the monsoon doing. It’s not going to make your job any easier.”

“I believe that’s going to be our biggest problem because a lot of the airfields are strictly visual flight rules in order to get there and in order to cater for the engine failure on take-off problem. However, I believe we’re going to be able to match the regularity of the local turbo-props because we shall have GPS and GESS. Of course we can’t rely on a satellite approach but it’s bound to help. Unfortunately there is no augmentation system in this area yet to check on the GPS as far as I know.”

“I’m not brave enough to let down in cloud through the mountains following just GPS, how about you?”

“Certainly not.”

“Good. I only asked the question in order to decide whether to come with you on Monday.”

Pat smiled.

“Have you got any more trick questions?”

“Yes. What do you do when the runway’s short and wet?”

“Hang on to the reverse thrust for a bit longer than normal but if there’s a lot of water standing on the runway we have to overfly. It depends of course how short the field is.” She paused. “Are you still coming with us?”

She looked at me again in a way which made me feel slightly uncomfortable. She was used to competing in a man’s world and not afraid of using her undeniable sexual charm. It was definitely time to go to work and then to bed, but not with her. I made my excuses and tried to pay the bill which they had put on one check. She wouldn’t hear of it but I had to point out that I must not accept favours from aircraft manufacturers. 

“If you can be bought for the price of a dinner, winning this job is going to very straightforward.”

“Look Pat. I’m not the decision maker so don’t waste your money on me. Look why won’t you let me buy your dinner?”

“Thank you. That would be nice.” 

She smiled and I left with some relief. It was going to be difficult to be impartial with an airline captain like her. As I went through the lobby to the elevator the tall man I had seen talking to Gonzales appeared from one of the chairs.

“I’m Jeremy Spencer. Bruno pointed you out to me.”

“Yes I did notice you both.” I hesitated. “As you know Senor Gonzales followed me to Mactan. He strikes me as the sort of person who is good to have as an agent but I have to say that as far as I’m concerned a little of Senor Gonzales goes a long way.”

Jeremy ignored my comment on Gonzales.

“How about to-morrow? Can you spare the time?”

“Yes I think that’ll be alright providing I get some work done right now. What time shall we meet?”

“How does nine suit you? Bruno has organised a car and a driver and we should make the eleven o’clock tour. We’ll be back in the hotel by five, is that alright?”

“Yes that’ll be fine providing I work for the rest of the week-end.”

I went towards the elevator and looked back as I waited. He was busily talking to Gonzales who had reappeared out of the woodwork. The sooner I finished this assignment and went home the better. I felt distinctly uncomfortable. There appeared to be nowhere to hide.
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